
 

 
 

 

 
Director of Corporate Resources 

 

1 

 
Governance and Human Resources 

Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 
 
 

AGENDA FOR THE HEALTH AND CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Members of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee are summoned to a meeting, which will be 
held on Thursday 22 September 2016 at 7.30 pm. 
 
 
John Lynch 
Head of Democratic Services 
 
 

Enquiries to : Peter Moore 

Tel : 020 7527 3252 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 14 September 2016 

 
 
Membership Substitute Members 
 
Councillors: Substitutes: 
Councillor Martin Klute (Chair) 
Councillor Rakhia Ismail (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Jilani Chowdhury 
Councillor Gary Heather 
Councillor Michelline Safi Ngongo 
Councillor Tim Nicholls 
Councillor Una O'Halloran 
Councillor Nurullah Turan 
 

Councillor Alice Perry 
Councillor Dave Poyser 
Councillor Clare Jeapes 
Councillor Satnam Gill OBE 
Councillor Angela Picknell 
Councillor Marian Spall 
 

 
Co-opted Member: Substitutes: 
Bob Dowd, Islington Healthwatch 
 

Olav Ernstzen, Islington Healthwatch 
Phillip Watson, Islington Healthwatch 
 

 

Quorum: is 4 Councillors 
 

Public Document Pack



 
Director of Corporate Resources 

 

2 
 

 

A.  
 

Formal Matters 
 

Page 

1.  Introductions 
 

 

2.  Apologies for Absence 
 

 

3.  Declaration of Substitute Members 
 

 

4.  Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in the 
discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a)Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 (b)Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out  
  duties as a member, or of your election; including from a trade union. 
 (c)Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you 
or your partner (or a body 
 in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and the council. 
 (d)Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
 (e)Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 
 (f)Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which 
you or your partner have  
  a beneficial interest. 
 (g)Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place 
of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   
 

This applies to all members present at the meeting. 

 

5.  Order of business 
 

 

6.  Confirmation of minutes of the previous meeting 
 

1 - 6 

7.  Chair's Report 
 

 

 The Chair will update the Committee on recent events.  



 
Director of Corporate Resources 

 

3 
 

8.  Public Questions 
 

 

9.  Health and Wellbeing Board Update 
 

 

B.  
 

Items for Decision/Discussion 
 

Page 

10.  London Ambulance Service - Performance Update 
 

7 - 14 

11.  Annual Adults Safeguarding report 
 

15 - 72 

12.  crutiny Review - Effectiveness of IAP - Presentation and SID 
 

73 - 74 

13.  Scrutiny Review - Health Implications of Damp Properties - Final report 
 

75 - 94 

14.  Work Programme 2016/17 
 

95 - 98 

 
 

The next meeting of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee will be on 17 November 2016 
Please note all committee agendas, reports and minutes are available on the council's 

website: 
www.democracy.islington.gov.uk 

http://www.democracy.islington.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

London Borough of Islington 
Health and Care Scrutiny Committee - Tuesday, 19 July 2016 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday, 19 July 
2016 at 7.30 pm. 

 
Present: Councillors: Klute (Chair), Ismail (Vice-Chair), Heather, Nicholls, 

O'Halloran and Turan 
 

Also Present: Councillors Janet Burgess 
 

 Co-opted Member Bob Dowd, Islington Healthwatch 
 

 
 

Councillor Martin Klute in the Chair 

 

240 INTRODUCTIONS (ITEM NO. 1)  
 
The Chair introduced Members and officers to the meeting 
 
 

241 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (ITEM NO. 2)  
 
Councillor Chowdhury and Bob Dowd for lateness 
 
 

242 DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (ITEM NO. 3)  
 
None 
 
 

243 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (ITEM NO. 4)  
 
None 
 
 

244 ORDER OF BUSINESS (ITEM NO. 5)  
 
The Chair stated that the Scrutiny Review Health Implications of Damp Properties 
would be taken as the first item on the agenda 
 
 

245 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (ITEM NO. 6)  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 09 June 2016 be confirmed 
and the Chair be authorised to sign them 
 
 

246 CHAIR'S REPORT (ITEM NO. 7)  
 
The Chair stated that he was concerned at the recent CQC report into the Camden 
and Islington Mental Health Trust that stated that the Trust required improvement. 
This was despite the Trust attending the previous meeting of the Committee and 
presenting a positive picture of the Trust’s performance. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  19 July 2016 
 

2 
 

The Chair stated that he would be meeting the Chair of the Trust, Leisha Fullick, to 
discuss this in the near future.  
 
 
 

247 PUBLIC QUESTIONS (ITEM NO. 8)  
 
The Chair outlined the procedures for Public questions and filming and recording of 
meetings 
 
 

248 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD UPDATE - VERBAL (ITEM NO. 9)  
 
 
None 
 
 

249 WHITTINGTON HOSPITAL PERFORMANCE UPDATE (ITEM NO. 10)  
 
Sioban Harrington, Director of Strategy and Deputy Chief Executive, Whittington NHS 
Trust was present for discussion of this item and outlined the report. 
 
During consideration of the report the following main points were made – 
 

 The performance of the Trust has been rated as good following the CQC 
inspection and had been rated outstanding in the caring services area 

 There had only been 3 NHS Trusts that had received this rating in London 
Borough of Islington 

 It was noted that the Trust had had a Quality summit the previous week to look 
at all the areas in order to address the areas that needed improvement 
however the CQC report was an excellent one 

 In response to a question it was stated that there would be an increase of 5 
consultant posts which would increase capacity and staffing levels 

 In response to a question in relation to the risk register it was stated that flatter 
structures had been introduced and an integrated updated system introduced 

 The Chief Executive of Whittington stated that the Whittington Hospital is a 
community hospital and had 200 adult beds. The numbers that were attending 
A&E had been increasing and numbers had gone up by 5%. The target for 
meeting the 4 hour emergency response time was in the mid 80%, as opposed 
to the 95% target 

 Progress has been made in reducing patient stays of over 7 days and work is 
taking place with Local Authorities to try to reduce this and the Trust were 
working to discharge patients before 11a.m. However, there is a particular 
problem with mental health patients as once their physical illness had been 
treated there is a lack of mental health beds in the system to discharge them 
to 

 The Trust were endeavouring to use the bed capacity in a smarter manner 

 In response to a question on palliative care it was stated that the Trust had an 
end of life group that met every 6 weeks 

 It was stated that there had been problems with confidentiality of patient data 
and that this had taken time to address but this has now been rectified 

 In response to a question in relation to ligature points it was stated that this 
had been an area of disagreement with the CQC assessors but this has now 
been resolved 

 The Committee welcomed the report and the significant improvements made 
in the past 2 years 

Page 2



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  19 July 2016 
 

3 
 

 It was stated that the improvement action plan would be circulated to Members 
of the Committee 

 Reference was made to the fact that the recent unsatisfactory report on North 
Middlesex A&E had led to more emergency patients being referred to the 
Whittington and the Trust were looking at bed flow and working with partners 
to try and reduce length of stay in hospital. The industrial action of the junior 
doctors had also compounded these problems 

 In response to a question in regard to mandatory training it was stated that 
whilst this was 10% below target, it was felt that a 90% rate was reasonable 
and better than 2 years previously. In addition, there was a need to improve 
staff appraisals, however the CQC had commended the Trust on the training 
provided in relation to children and adults at risk 

 Reference was made to the fact that future inspections by the CQC would be 
unannounced and done in a different less resource led level as the current 
inspections were expensive 

 It was stated that the Trust were about to employ a Head of Improvement to 
take things forward 
 
RESOLVED: 
That the Whittington NHS Trust improvement plan be circulated to Members 
 
The Chair thanked Steve Hitchins and Simon Pleydell for attending 

 
 

250 WHITTINGTON HOSPITAL - GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS (ITEM NO. 11)  
 
Simon Pleydell, Chief Executive and Steve Hitchins, Chair of the Whittington NHS 
Trust were present for discussion of this item. 
 
During discussion of the item the following main points were made – 
 

 Discussion took place as to the disbanding of the Shadow Board of Governors 
and the Chief Executive stated that this had been established when the Trust 
were considering Foundation Trust status. However this is no longer being 
considered and therefore there is no reason to continue with the Shadow 
Board 

 Reference was made to communication between the Chair of the Committee 
and the Chair of Whittington NHS Trust on this issue and that Councillor 
Heather had attended the recent meeting of the Forum for local engagement 
that had recently been established. The Trust were working hard to engage 
the local community and build up an e mail list of invitees and liaison is taking 
place with IVAC to develop a list of contacts and hard to reach groups 

 The Chair of the Trust stated that they were due to meet the Youth Council to 
talk to young people. He added that the Forum was not going to have a 
specific membership and costs would be kept to a minimum and information 
disseminated digitally  

 The intention is to engage as many of the community as possible  

 It was noted that the Trust were being advised by the Director of Patient 
Experience at NHS England 

 Councillor Heather expressed the view that the Forum meeting that he had 
attended had worked well and there had been a high level of engagement. 
However he felt that there should be an ability to look into specific issues and 
it was noted that there would be a mixture of afternoon and evening meetings 
to engage as wider section of the community as possible 

 Councillor Burgess stated that she was the Council’s representative on the 
Shadow Board of Governors for the previous 5 years and interest had waned 

Page 3



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  19 July 2016 
 

4 
 

but it would be good to try to engage some of the previous Board Members in 
the future. It was stated that a number of the Shadow Board Members had 
attended the Forum meeting 
 
The Chair thanked Steve Hitchins and Simon Pleydell for attending 

 
 

251 HEALTHWATCH ANNUAL REPORT (ITEM NO. 12)  
 
Emma Whitby and Bob Dowd of Healthwatch were present and outlined the report 
and made a presentation to the Committee, during which the following main points 
were made – 

 The work of volunteers and the approach to volunteering was celebrated as 
best in the country and the project on mental health services for young adults 
was singled out for particular praise 

 Worked with Islington Council and two local providers, to reach some 600 
people receiving Council funded care in their own homes, providing 
signposting and other information 

 Worked with GP surgeries to increase interpreting services in practices and 
this is now showing results 

 Carried out mystery shopping in local hospitals and GP practices to find out 
how easy it was for people on low incomes to receive support under the 
Healthcare Travel costs scheme. This brought an immediate change of policy 
at Moorfields Hospital and one eventually at the Whittington 

 Reference was made to the Whittington Estates strategy and that this has 
been considered at the JHOSC. It was stated that this needed to be kept 
under review and the Forum that has been established needs to be able to 
consider issues such as this and focus on outcomes 

 It was stated that Healthwatch would be meeting with the new Patient 
Experience Manager at the Whittington in the next few weeks and that they 
would update the Committee on this 
 
The Chair thanked Emma Whitby and Bob Dowd for their presentation 

 
 
 

252 SCRUTINY REVIEW - HEALTH IMPLICATIONS OF DAMP PROPERTIES - 
WITNESS EVIDENCE - VERBAL (ITEM NO. 13)  
 
James Stone and Hilary Rowbottom, Hyde Housing Association, were present for 
discussion of this item. 
 
During consideration the following main points were made – 
 

 Hyde stated that they were not able to comment on the position at Alderwick 
Court as this matter is currently subject to legal consideration 

 Hyde has a customer care centre, responsive repairs surveyors (of which 
there are 4 in Islington), and a special projects and major repairs team 

 There is a phased approach to reports of damp and when a resident reports a 
dampness problem this is assessed and if it can be identified an order issued, 
however if not a surveyor would visit the property and where necessary the 
situation would be monitored and if it still could not be identified the issue 
could be referred to a more senior surveyor 

 If there were lifestyle issues were involved Hyde would issue a leaflet to 
advise tenants of the best ways to avoid condensation and Hyde had a 

Page 4



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  19 July 2016 
 

5 
 

proforma for the surveyor to complete. Hyde stated that they would circulate 
this to Members 

 If the works are substantial these will be referred to the major works team who 
will carry out further tests to see if there are design problems with the building 
etc. or a specialist DPC contractor will be called in to assess and remedy the 
problems 

 If there is an emergency the matter is referred to the emergency services team 
and if there is a social services referral or a care issue then this is signposted 
to the appropriate agencies and interested parties, such as Environmental 
Health would be kept updated 

 The surveying staff situation had been problematic in the past however there 
were now permanent members of staff in all surveying positions 

 In response to a question as to rehousing families as a result of dampness 
problems where health situations were involved, it was stated that this was 
difficult to assess and would depend on the individual circumstances. Initially 
Hyde would try to assess and rectify the dampness issue, however if this was 
not possible then there may be a need for a temporary move. This would be 
assessed on a case by case basis 

 It was stated that Hyde staff were not medical experts and if there is an issue 
then tenants would be advised to visit their GP for an assessment and advice 
and if there were relevant issues Hyde would look into these 

 In response to a question it was stated that if an underlying cause for 
dampness problems could not be found then lifestyle issues would be taken 
into consideration and would need to be eliminated. A whole range of things 
would be looked at and there is a process of advice and monitoring the tenant 

 Reference was made to whether Hyde were aware of the number of properties 
in their housing stock that were suffering from dampness problems and it was 
stated that they would try to ascertain these figures and inform Members 

 In response to a question it was stated that if a tenant presents with a chronic 
medical issue works were carried out as an emergency, however if there are 
major works temporary accommodation would be provided 

 Members expressed the view that it would be useful if Hyde could identify from 
their IT system figures on dampness issues in their properties, and it was 
stated that Hyde did not have KPI’s on this however if a dampness issue 
regularly occurring this will be referred to a senior surveyor/company to 
investigate if there is any underlying cause and if this is ruled out then lifestyle 
issues will be considered and the implications of this explained to the tenant 
and appropriate advice given 

 In response to a question Hyde stated that the worst problems of dampness 
were usually experienced in their Victorian and Edwardian properties 
 
RESOLVED: 
(a) That the pro forma, referred to above be circulated to Members for 

information 
(b) That if Hyde had any details of the numbers of properties in their housing 

stock that suffered from dampness problems these be notified to Members 
of the Committee 
 
The Chair thanked James Stone and Hilary Rowbottom for attending 

 
 

253 WORK PROGRAMME (ITEM NO. 14)  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted 
 

Page 5



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  19 July 2016 
 

6 
 

 
 
 
MEETING CLOSED at 10.00p.m. 
 
 
 
Chair 
 

Page 6



 
 
London Ambulance Service Quality Account 2015/16  

 
2015/16 has been a challenging year for the Service. We’ve continued to see an increase in demand with 20,000 
more incidents in 2015/16 and March 2016 was our busiest month ever. The increased threat of terrorism and focus 
on resilience has been important for us and we’ve been working closely with other emergency services and partners 
in London.  
 
The CQC inspection and report has highlighted issues affecting the Service and we have put in place a Quality 
Improvement programme to address the issues raised. We are confident that these are already leading to 
improvements for patients and staff.  Our focus continues to be on the quality and care we provide to patients. 
  

Quality Priorities 2015/16  
 

1. Patient safety  
2. Patient experience  
3. Workforce  

 
1. Patient Safety  

 
Sign up to Safety Campaign 

In 2015/16 the Trust enrolled on to the Sign up to Safety campaign in order to contribute to the system-wide 
ambition of making the NHS the safest healthcare system in the world by creating a system devoted to continuous 
learning and improvement. 
 
We have seen significant progress in Maternity where a six weekly ‘risk summit’ has used the Sign up to Safety 
pledges to inform its agenda. Work continues to improve the safety of the service we provide by effective 
engagement with staff involved in incidents and providing proactive training on Maternity risks to clinical staff.  
 
Throughout the year we have worked across the service to improve the safety of the service we provide by effective 
management with staff involved in incidents. We have commenced the publication of a quarterly “Trust Learning 
from Experience” report, identifying themes from across serious incidents, complaints, inquests, incidents and 
claims.  
 
We have also been working to integrate Duty of Candour into the culture of the organisation and staff involved in 
Serious Incidents are offered support throughout the process.  
 
We will continue to progress this work in 2016/17.  
 
Maternity 
We have appointed a consultant midwife three days a week. In 2015 we were proactive in delivering arrange of 
opportunities for staff to improve skills and knowledge around the care of pregnant and newly delivered women.  
Key successes:  

 Celebration of International Day of Midwifery (5.5.2015) and launch of Maternity Mannequin. 

 Clinical Safety – Establishment of 6 week Maternity Risk Summit  

 Establishment of Joint Maternity Training for the Pre-Hospital Setting led by LAS and local Maternity 
Units - 100 Ambulance Staff trained with midwives across London. 

 Delivery of Maternity “Mouthfuls” training for staff working within the Emergency Operations Centre to 
reinforce the advice given over the telephones 

 Responsive changes to the triage system used within the LAS reviewed and submitted to improve care – 
Cord Prolapse, Water birth, Cardiac Arrest and Skin to Skin care for new-borns.  

 Stork Awards initiated to celebrate the work of Emergency Medical Dispatchers in management of 
telephone support to women who give birth prior to the arrival of the ambulance service. 

 
Frequent Callers 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 10



The Trust was successful in securing a Darzi Fellowship to support the work we are doing around identifying and 
managing frequent callers.  
 
This has included reviewing our current processes, quantifying the problems posed to the service and identifying a 
new reporting system. It was identified as a CQUIN and quarterly reporting has demonstrated significant 
improvement across a range of aspects.  
 
A focus of the review was understanding the different cohorts of patients who make up this group of patients and 
supporting the integration of health and social care or community care. A review of the various approaches currently 
in place was undertaken, identifying a range of multi-disciplinary and multi-professional teams, supported by sharing 
records.  
 
Our data shows that frequent callers generate over 49,000 incidents annually incurring costs of approximately £4.4 
million to the Service and costing the wider London healthcare economy £18.8 million.  
 
We are engaging with stakeholders to continue this work and at a local level we are working with commissioners and 
others to discuss complex care patients and develop and implement care plans that will provide them access to the 
care that is appropriate to their needs.  
 
2. Patient Experience  

 
Safeguarding processes  
Improvement to our safeguarding processes was identified as a quality priority for 2015/16 specifically focussing on 
training, supervision, partnership working and the implementation of the new Care Act.  
As well as delivering a range of training for staff we engaged in a considerable amount of partnership working during 
2015/16. The second annual safeguarding and Mental Health Conference was held in April 2015 for 110 staff and 
national partners.  
 
Mental Health  
 
Dementia care 
The Trust has engaged with voluntary organisations including Alzheimer’s Society, Dementia Concern and Camden 
Dementia Carers Service to initiate a number of focus groups with dementia patients and their carers. The focus 
groups provided the Trust with a number of ways it could improve the care it provides to people living with 
dementia. A report was developed highlighting the key findings and recommendations to inform our mental health 
work place for 2016/17. 
 
The Trust has focused on raising dementia awareness across staff. We delivered train the trainer sessions for our 
clinical tutors, enabling them to become dementia champions, with the ability to cascade across their learning across 
the organisation. Dementia awareness sessions were also delivered for Emergency Operations Centre Staff. 
 
Training and Education  
The introduction of mental health nurses in our Emergency Operations Centre has also supported improved 
knowledge and confidence of our staff working in the control centre with this workforce model receiving recognition 
from NHS England as an innovative new model of working. 
 
A further initiative was the roll out of the mental health risk awareness tool across the service. This tool was 
developed as a result of a pilot conducted in the Hillingdon area between March and November 2012 and was rolled 
out as part of our CQUIN initiatives in 2015/16.  The tool helps crews to assess patients who present with mental 
health issues.  The tool also supports decision making.  
 
A full review of the mental health Core Performance Indicators (CPI) was undertaken this year by the Clinical Audit 
Research Unit (CARU) in August 2015, detailing progress since its inception in 2012.  The audit showed that there 
have been overall improvements in the level of care provided to patients with a diagnosed psychiatric problem.  
 
Parity of esteem  

Page 8



The Trust believes that it is vital to ensure parity between physical and mental health. We have now established 
Appropriate Care Pathways (ACPs) with all the nine Mental Health Trusts. Our efforts this year have focused on 
ensuring that mental health pathways are accessible and available 24/7 providing advice and referral pathways. Of 
the nine mental health trusts, three have a single point of access for LAS staff and similar pathways are being 
developed with remaining trusts.  
 
 
Care of patients detained under the mental health act (1983)  
The service responds to two types of patients detained under the mental health act 1983 (MHA), emergency 
detention which constitutes section 136 MHA and the planned mental health act assessments. 
 
Planned Mental Health Act Assessments 
Following our review led by NHS England and Brent CCG it was recommended that planned mental health act 
assessments should be moved to our Non-Emergency Transport Service (NETS).  We are piloted this service within 
the Camden and Islington area with a view with a view to rolling it out across London from April 2016.  
 
NETS uses a pre-bookable scheduling system to maximise effectiveness with a performance target of 90% of all pre-
planned journeys receiving a vehicle before or at the time  
 
Section 136 MHS (1983) 
We continue to face challenges in our ability to respond to all section 136 incidents in the specified time frame of 30 
minutes.  
 
Therefore we have concentrated our efforts on a detailed review of section 136 responses, specifically how these are 
triaged and how the service meets the response times allocated to these calls.  A section 136 audit was completed 
by the Clinical Audit and Research Unit (CARU) in December 2015. The audit highlighted the key issues which 
resulted in ambulances not being dispatched within the 30 minute time frame.  Issues highlighted include: 
 

 Insufficient information supplied by Met Police to LAS which results in patient not being identified as being 
detained under section 136 resulting in the wrong triage category being applied. 

 Lack of awareness of some staff in relation to the guidance and policies relating to mental health act 
response times.  

 
LAS are now responding to 58% of Section 136 incidents within the required time frames. 
 
Mental Health and wellbeing of staff  
The Trust has signed the Blue Light Time to Change pledge, offering dedicated wellbeing support to our staff as they 
work around the clock to keep patients safe. Working with Mind, the mental health charity our Practice Learning 
Manager Control Services has been able to provide significant and inspirational training to the majority of our EOS 
staff.  
 
Over 300 LAS staff have spoken to ‘Hear Us’, another mental health charity we have been working closely with since 
2013. 232 staff have attended the one day Mind courses. Several mental health and wellbeing publications have 
been shared in the organisation; over 800 booklets/leaflets have been read/taken by staff. 
 
Complaints and PALS 
In May 2015 a local review of the complaints backlog, systems and processes was carried out.  The time required to 
receive Quality Assurance reports to inform complaint responses was identified as the main cause for the delay in 
responding to complaints within the 35 day standard response time. The review also identified other additional 
areas where action would be needed: 
 
•Process and system for managing statements from crews 
•Process and system for managing Clinical opinions form the medical directorate 
•Process and system for managing throughput in the Executive office 
•Process and system for managing complaints from Health Care Professionals 
 

Page 9



As a result of the review a comprehensive action plan was developed and integrated into the Quality Improvement 
Plan. Significant improvements in turn around and an on-going reduction of the backlog have been evidenced. We 
expect all complaints to be managed within the 35 day timeframe by the end of August 2016. 
 
3.  Workforce   
 
Recruitment 
Workforce planning in 2015/16 has focussed on building a clear and sustainable pipeline to increase the number of 
staff working operationally with the trust. This has been focused on three core groups: 
 

 Overseas paramedics: 350 whole time equivalents (wte) 

 UK Graduate paramedics: 105 wte from UK Universities  

 Emergency Ambulance Crew: 252 wte have been employed by LAS 
 
In total we have recruited 717 additional frontline staff in 2015/16. 
 
We have also been working closely with Universities and have increased the number of Paramedics in training with 
our 4 main Universities from 150 to 590 training places. 
 
Retention 
As part of our retention strategy we have launched a number of non-pay benefits. All staff are now eligible for cycle, 
car salary sacrifice schemes and childcare voucher scheme.  
 
Additionally, LAS actively promotes a number of other discounts and offers that are available to our staff including: 
phone contracts, gym memberships and Microsoft Office packages. 
 
A significant focus of the retention strategy is to invest in leadership and management development and education 
and training bursaries. 171 Clinical Team Leaders have received management development in the form of a two day 
bespoke management course. The 2 day course has also been embedded into the future team leader courses. 
Clinical Team Leaders have also received master classes on managing general human resources issues such as 
attendance, disciplinary processes and grievances.  
 
As a result of HEE funding we are able to provide bursaries for clinical development in conjunction with our partner 
universities to 336 members of staff.  
 
In 2015/16 we engaged with our staff to determine what their appraisals should look like in the organisation and re-
launch them.  The new appraisal process provides guidance for managers and staff outling what the purpose of the 
appraisal and how to use it to support staff development.  The new appraisal process was launched in 2016/17 for 
both frontline and corporate staff. We expect to see a dramatic increase in appraisal rates as well as improved 
reporting. 
 
Engagement 
We have developed an annual plan of staff engagement activities to engage staff in various ways to discuss what is 
going on in the organisation and to listen to their ideas.  Engagement activities this year have included:  
 

 Chief Executive Roadshows: In November 2015 we ran a series of roadshows where our Chief Executive and 
other senior managers met face to face with over 900 staff at sites across London.  

 New Intranet: we launched a new intranet to provide clearer and more intuitive portal for staff to access 
important information and news about what is happening in the organisation. 

 VIP Awards: The first annual VIP awards evening was held in 2015/16. The awards allow staff to nominate 
their colleague who they think are deserving of an award with all nominees invited to attend the awards 
ceremony. 

 Chief Executive Video Messages: Our Chief Executive has recorded a number of video messages about key 
issues to provide staff with another way of finding out about information and changes in organisation. This 
also enables all staff to hear these messages straight from Chief Executive. 

Page 10



 Facebook Listening in Action (LiA): continues to provide our staff with an open forum to discuss any work 
related topics that interest them. Senior managers are also active on the site providing information and 
answering important questions. 

 
 
 
Training and Development  
The Trust has a number of ways in which it trains and develops staff. This includes; Core Skills Refresher sessions for 
all clinical staff as well as e-learning. 
 
Over a 12 month period each of our clinicians are required to attend three Core Skills Refresher (CSR) sessions. For 
2015/16 the completion rate for these sessions was 82% against a target attendance of 85%. This was slightly below 
target due to losing four weeks of training time due to staff being required to prioritise front line duties due to 
winter pressures.  
 
The Trust put in plans to launch the NHS IT Skills Pathway to support the learning need for staff requiring 
development of their IT skills on the Microsoft Office product suite.  The eLearning team are also continuing to 
develop our own bespoke eLearning for our eLearning site LASLive which includes new modules on PREVENT, Health 
and Safety, Information Governance and Infection Prevention and Control.  

 
Our Quality Priorities for 2016/17  
 

 Patient safety  

 Patient experience  

 Clinical effectiveness and audit  
 

1. Patient Safety  
Sign up to Safety campaign 
The Trust enrolled on the Sign up to Safety programme in 2015-2016 and will continue to progress this work 
throughout 2016/17. 
 
Our ambition is to apply the programme to other high risk areas such as maternity, mental health and paediatrics 
We are continuing to learn from incidents and have commenced the publication of a quarterly ‘Trust Learning From 
Experience’ report, identifying themes from across serious incidents, complaints, inquests, incidents and claims. This 
report is shared at the Quality Governance Committee and with commissioners.  
 
As part of our commitment to the pledge, we are working to integrate the Duty of Candour into the culture of the 
organisation. We are ensuring that Family Liaison Officers are allocated to each case to engage and support family 
members and staff involved in Serious Incidents. 
 
Medicines Management 
This is a core arrange of focus for the Service in 2016/17 as the CQC identified medicines management as a specific 
area of concern to the Trust. 
 
During 2016/17 we will seek to build upon the improvements seen in 2015-16 through development of medicines 
managements systems and processes to specifically include: 
 

 A review of a new drug distribution system looking to incorporate barcode technology to improve 
traceability of medicines.  

 A programme of work to improve reporting of drug usage data and further investigate additional 
technological solutions to support supply and administration of medicines. 

 Medicines management training for all clinical staff via the Core Refresher programme. 
 

Infection Control 
The Quality Improvement Plan highlights a number of key areas associated with infection prevention and control 
that the Trust will focus on throughout 2016/17.  These areas are: 
 Page 11



 A review of current guidance on bare-below-the-elbow, protective clothing and local monitoring for 
infection control. 

 A review of all stations to understand the scope of works and cleaning contracts required to meet infection 
control standards. 

 A review of the provision, distribution, numbers and quality of blankets to ensure staff have access to 
blanket supplies to support single usage for every patient.  

 
2. Patient Experience  
 
Mental Health  
 
Dementia 
Through our commitment to increasing focus on the care of patients with dementia we are working to train staff and 
developing closer working relationships with organisations that specialise in dementia care.  
 
Learning from workshops carried out in 2015/16 has been integrated into the Trust Mental Health Action Plan. A key 
objective contained in the plan is to increase training in dementia care for staff at all levels across the organisation 
and to improve partnership arrangements with third section organisations. 
 
Patients detained under Section 136 
The Trust has recognised that it has faced challenges in meeting our agreed target response time of within 30 
minutes to all patients detained under section 136. 
 
As part of our Quality Improvement Programme a review of mental health act guidance is being issued to staff and 
we are working to ensure that it is well understood. We will also strengthen the training we provide to staff on the 
Mental Capacity Act and put in place a network for staff to ensure they are confident in carrying mental capacity 
assessments, and are able to seek guidance when required.  
 
In 2016/17 there will be specific focus on the guidance associated with section 136 in partnerships with our police 
colleagues including the Metropolitan, British Transport and City Police forces.  This work ensures that our policies 
and protocols will be consistent and that calls will be appropriately triaged to enable a timely, safe and effective 
response. 
 

Bariatric Care 
An analysis of our calls suggests that we are dealing with at least one bariatric patient per 24 hours. Therefore the 
Trust will ensure operational plans are in place to respond appropriately to the growing bariatric population in 
London and that care is delivered in a way that maintains the privacy and dignity of patients.  There will a working 
group with patient involvement to oversee the effective training of all front line staff in assessment of patients, the 
use of specialist manual handling and clinical equipment during their care and treatment. The appropriate number of 
vehicles to accommodate bariatric patients in safety and comfort will be a primary focus as will service user feedback 
on care received. 
 
End of Life Care 
End of Life care calls are often associated with extended on scene times and are reported by staff as being some of 
the emotionally challenging cases they attend.   
 
Therefore the Trust will continue to focus on this important area of care across 2016/17 reviewing End of Life 
pathways, education programmes and service developments to assess impact on patient and staff experience; 
making recommendations as required and producing evidence based oral updates and written reports to internal 
and external stakeholders. Identifying, reviewing and escalating any incidents relating to End of Life Care ensuring 
lessons learned are shared and adopted by all key stakeholders and further embedding our partnership with 
Coordinate My Care will be key objectives. 
 
To date a range of significant pieces of work including have been undertaken including 
 

 Development of the End of Life Core Skills Refresher (CSR) training package which commenced delivery in  
December 2015 Page 12



 The successful implementation and on-going evaluation of appropriate care pathways with partner agencies 
supporting the rapid referral of patients identified as requiring End of Life support   

 
3. Clinical Effectiveness and Audit  
 
Exercise Unified Response 2016  
The Trust is currently conducting a clinical audit which was triggered by a request from the London Resilience  
Partnership and feedback from the Care Quality Commission and the Coroner following the inquest into 7/7. 
 
The clinical audit will include all patients that were assessed and/or treated by LAS during a major incident training 
exercise, covering a range of clinical conditions 
 
Continuous Re-contact  
In 2015-16 we reviewed the decision not to convey patients by Paramedics on the Clinical Hub and clinicians on the 
road. We looked at patients who re-contacted the LAS within 24 hours following a referral to 111, a hear & treat or a 
see & treat incident where on second attendance the patient was conveyed to hospital with a pre-alert or died 
unexpectedly. This contributed to the LAS’s mortality review and as a result in the first six months seven cases were 
escalated for review by the Serious Incident Group. The value of this project was considered so great that it will be 
continued in 2016-17. 
 
Sickle Cell Crisis   
LAS is to conduct a re-audit of care provided to patients who contact the LAS during a sickle cell crisis. The re-audit 
will focus on the initial telephone triage and ambulance response as well as pain assessment and management, 
medication administration and conveyance decision. Most importantly the re-audit will seek to understand the 
patient’s experience. The results of the audit will help develop a specific training package for a mandatory Core Skills 
Refresher Training in 2016. 
 
Hypovolaemic Shock 
Following a patient safety incident and revised internal guidance LAS is conducting a clinical audit which seeks to 
examine recognition, assessment and medication administration to patients with hypovolaemic shock.  
 
Mental Capacity Act  
The CQC found that many staff lacked confidence working with the scope of the Mental Capacity Act 2015. 
Therefore, following a programme of training on the Mental Capacity Act assessment, this documentation audit will 
examine appropriateness of completion of the LAS Capacity Tool (documentation for the treatment of patients who 
are unable to consent). 
 
Conclusion  
We have made progress throughout 2015/16 and are continuing to take forward a number of the areas into 2016/17 
as well as exploring new areas to improve our clinical care and quality.  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

  

 

 

Housing and Adult Social Services 

7 Newington Barrow Way, London, N7 7EP 

 

 

 

Report of: The Director  

 

Meeting of  

 

Date 

 

Agenda Item 

 

Ward(s) 

Health and Wellbeing Board 19 October 2016 Item All 

 

Delete as 

appropriate 

 Non-exempt 

 

 

 

 
 

 

SUBJECT:  

1. Synopsis 

1.1. This report sets out highlights and progress of the council’s leadership of adult safeguarding 
arrangements in the borough. 

1.2. The published Annual Safeguarding Review, attached as appendix A, describes this in more 
detail. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 To note the contents of this report and to commend adult social services staff for their 
commitment to preventing abuse where possible and responding to concerns of abuse or neglect 
of vulnerable Islington residents. 

3. Background 

3.1 Under the Care Act 2014, Islington Council has a statutory responsibility to lead the borough 
in safeguarding adults.   

3.2 Key achievements 

 The Islington Safeguarding Adults Board (ISAB) has set up a Service User and Carer 

subgroup of the Board to hear people’s views on its work.  The subgroup is still finding its feet, 

but it is already starting to shape and inform the work the Board. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 11



 

 
 

 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards continued to increase sharply. Islington Council is one of the 

few local authorities that are managing to turn around applications mostly within timescales. 

 The ISAB has developed a Prevention Strategy.  Each of the Board partners has committed to 

taking action towards preventing abuse and neglect from happening in the first place.   

 A month-long series of awareness-raising events has been held at various places in the 

borough. 

 A learning log has been implemented to make sure that all partner organisations share and 

learn the lessons from serious cases whether they were involved in the review or not. 

 A policy checklist for partner organisations has been developed to help them ensure their 

policies comply with the Care Act 2014. 

 Monthly multi-agency RADAR meetings have been set up to regularly monitor care provider 

quality in Islington. 

 Self-neglect and Domestic Abuse are new categories of abuse under the Care Act.  The 

Council has completed a small audit of these cases to get assurance on practice. 

 

The annual report further details progress on delivering the Islington Safeguarding Adults Board’s 
3-year strategy and annual plan. 

 

3.3 The review compares the statistics from 2015/16 with the previous year 2014/15.  There has 
been a 26% increase in safeguarding adults concerns on the previous year (1464 
concerns).Safeguarding enquiries have increased 3% on last year.   

3.4 However, the number of cases not to taken forward to enquiry (872) has risen 47% since last 
year (592).  This trend will be monitored.  It may indicate that a need to ensure feedback to 
people who report concerns so that in future they are better able to identify what is a 
safeguarding concern and what is not. 

3.5 Physical abuse, financial abuse and neglect have remained the top three categories for 
several years.  The picture is similar across the country.   

3.6 The percentage of cases which were substantiated or partially substantiated (that is, the abuse 
was likely to have taken place) has fallen 14% in the last year. 

3.7 The Care Act 2014 has lowered the threshold for reviewing serious cases.  The Safeguarding 
Adults Board has held multi-agency reflective workshops about 2 cases and a Safeguarding 
Adults Review is underway for another case. 

 

3.8  Key National Developments 

 The government has been raising awareness as part of a strategy to tackle modern 
slavery and human trafficking. There is now bespoke guidance for staff on this and all the 
other new categories of abuse covered within the Care Act 2014. 

 An independent inquiry into Southern Healthcare (known as the Mazar’s Inquiry) has been 
published.  A key finding related to poor management oversight of unexpected deaths. The 
safeguarding adults board is leading on a borough wide assurance process across 
partners and their own oversight arrangements for unexpected deaths. 

Page 16



 

 
 

 A new legal duty, known as the Prevent Duty, has been introduced. Bespoke awareness 
raising sessions have been provided for staff and the safeguarding adults training 
programme now includes awareness on PREVENT. The Head of Safeguarding Adults is 
now a core member of the Channel Panel ensuring robust links between safeguarding 
adults and prevention of harm from radicalisation. 

 
Next year, the Board will take forward more work on implementing these national 
developments locally. 
 

Implications 

4.1. Financial implications  

 
The Safeguarding Adults Unit 2015/16 gross expenditure outturn was £1,039k. The following 
contributions were received: 
- £91k was funded through the Islington Clinical Commissioning Group (ICCG)  
- £5k was received from the London Metropolitan Police towards the Islington Safeguarding 
Adults Board (with a further £500 from the London Fire Brigade). 
 
The Safeguarding Adults Unit 2016/17 gross expenditure budget is £1,095k. This includes a net 
increase of £450k which was added to the budget in 2015/16 to fund pressures arising from costs 
associated with Safeguarding Adults Reviews and the Supreme Court judgment in the ‘Cheshire 
West’ case.  This landmark case extended the definition of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS), and has meant the number of people eligible for DoLS assessments has increased 
significantly in recent years. 
 
There are no financial implications arising as a direct result of this report. 
 
Any plans or strategies derived or agreed in relation to this report should use existing available 
resources and therefore not create a budget pressure for the Council. 
 
4.2. Legal Implications   

 
There are no legal implications arising as a direct result of the SAB annual report.  The report has 
been prepared in accordance with the Council’s statutory duty under  the Care Act, Schedule 2 
(Safeguarding Adults Boards) which  requires the SAB to as soon as feasible after the end of 
each financial year publish an  annual report on the matters specified at paragraph 4 of the 
Schedule.  
 
Equalities Impact Assessment  
 
The council must have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations, between those 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality 
Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise 
disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life.  The council must have due regard 
to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding.  
 

Page 17



 

 
 

Appendix B of the full annual review (attached as Appendix A) sets out the equality impact of work 
to safeguard adults who are at risk in Islington. 

 
4.3. Environmental Implications 

 

There are no major environmental impacts associated with the Safeguarding Adults Board. Minor 
impacts such as transport-related emissions and office-based resource usage (energy, paper etc) 
are managed by staff by actions including not printing documents unless absolutely necessary, 
using video-conferencing and encouraging walking, cycling and the use of public transport.  Some 
work has the potential to benefit the environment, such as reducing fire risk or referring service 
users to the SHINE service, which gives advice to residents on saving energy. 

 

5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations 

The annual safeguarding review sets out the main achievements in safeguarding vulnerable and 
disabled adults in Islington and details our aims for achieving our strategy and annual plan. 

 

Background papers:  
 
Attachments:  Appendix A: Islington Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Review 2015-16 
     Appendix B: Islington Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Review 2015-16 summary 
 
Final Report Clearance 
 
 
Signed by 

 

 13.09.2016 

   Date 
    

 
Received by ………………………………………………………

……. 
 …………………. 

 Head of Democratic Services  Date 
 
 
Report author: Elaine Oxley 
Tel:  0207 527 8180   
E-mail:  elaine.oxley@islington.gov.uk 
  
 

Page 18



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
1 
 

Islington 
Safeguarding 
Adults 
Partnership 
Annual review 2015-16 

 

A Safer Islington 

Page 19



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
2 
 

Foreword 
Thank you for your interest in safeguarding adults 

in Islington. As independent chair of the Adult 

Safeguarding Board I am pleased to be introducing 

this Annual Report, my third as Board Chair.   

 

All partner organisations have continued to 

experience significant challenges with increasing 

demand and diminishing resources. We have also 

had to make sure that we meet the new 

requirements of the Care Act which has added 

additional pressure.  Nonetheless we have done 

everything we can to ensure we keep adults at risk 

as safe as possible. 

 

This report describes the actions all partner 

organisations have taken this year to keep people 

safe. We have had a particular focus this year on 

Domestic Violence. We have also tried to ensure 

people understand their rights and are supported to 

make decisions where they may not have capacity.  

I am very grateful for the support of all partner 

organisations and the safeguarding team in 

developing our work. I am particularly grateful to 

the Chairs of our Board Sub Groups for their huge 

contribution to the work of the Board. They ensure 

that detailed work takes place between Board 

meetings.  

 

We have had a particular focus on raising 

awareness in all communities this year. This has 

meant organising awareness raising sessions in a 

variety of venues in order to ensure all 

communities know what to do if they suspect 

abuse. All partners have contributed to this work 

and ensured that information about adult 

safeguarding is included in their public events.  

 

The number of referrals for investigation as adult 

safeguarding enquiries has again increased very 

significantly. Physical abuse, neglect and financial 

abuse are the largest number of allegations this 

year. We have heard nationally in recent years of 

cases where adults have suffered harm in care 

homes and hospitals.  We continue to work with the 

Clinical Commissioning Group to monitor the 

quality of these services in Islington. Almost half of 

the alleged abuse in Islington occurs in peoples’ 

own homes and we rely on the vigilance of local 

organisations and people to bring these to our 

attention.  

 

We have had multi-agency meetings to ensure all 

agencies take action to keep people safe and also 

to ensure appropriate action is taken with 

perpetrators of abuse. We have also held 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews where things have 

gone wrong to learn lessons and try to ensure 

these situations are not repeated.   

 

Again I would particularly like to thank Sean 

McLaughlin, Director for Housing and Adult Social 

Services at Islington Council for his support, 

thoughtfulness and enthusiasm. I would also like to 

thank the councillors in Islington for their interest 

and encouragement. Particular thanks are due to 

Councillor Janet Burgess whose unfailing support 

and dedication is hugely valued. Lastly, I would like 

to thank the people of Islington for their vigilance. 

 

  

 

Marian Harrington 

Independent Chair  

July 2016 

Page 20



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
3 
 

 
 
Foreword ................................................................................................................ 2 
About us ................................................................................................................. 4 
Who makes up the partnership? ........................................................................... 4 
Introduction ............................................................................................................ 5 
You said, we did ..................................................................................................... 7 
Community outreach ................................................................................................ 7 
About our strategy ................................................................................................. 9 
Partner work on our strategy .............................................................................. 10 
Subgroup work on our strategy .......................................................................... 14 
1. Quality, Audit & Assurance ................................................................ 14 
2. Communications & Policy .................................................................. 14 
3. Learning & Development ................................................................... 15 
4. Safeguarding Adult Review Subgroup ............................................... 16 
5. Service User & Carer Subgroup ........................................................ 16 
Experiences and Statistics .................................................................................. 17 
1. Experiences ....................................................................................... 17 
2. Statistics ............................................................................................ 18 
3. Concerns & Enquiries ........................................................................ 18 
4. People who raised concerns .............................................................. 20 
5. Types of abuse .................................................................................. 21 
6. Where abuse took place .................................................................... 22 
7. Decisions taken ................................................................................. 23 
8. Action to help the adult ...................................................................... 24 
9. Outcome for adult at risk .................................................................... 25 
10. Action taken against people alleged to have caused harm ................ 26 
11. Police action ...................................................................................... 28 
12. The impact of safeguarding ............................................................... 31 
13. Safeguarding Adults Reviews ............................................................ 32 
14. Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards ...................................................... 33 
Next steps ............................................................................................................. 39 
 
 
Appendix A  Making sure we safeguard everyone  
Appendix B  How the partnership board fits in 
Appendix C  Who attended our board meetings 
Appendix D  Our resources 
Appendix E  Our Impact on the environment  
Appendix F Jargon buster 
Appendix G  What should I do if I suspect abuse? 
 
 

Contents table 

Page 21

../../../../../../../Social_Services/Joint%20SS%20and%20PCT%20Area/Safeguarding%20Adults/Safeguarding%20Board/Key%20Board%20Papers/Annual%20Report/Annual%20Report%202015-16/ISAB%202015-16%20Annual%20Report%20v5.doc#_Toc456011288
../../../../../../../Social_Services/Joint%20SS%20and%20PCT%20Area/Safeguarding%20Adults/Safeguarding%20Board/Key%20Board%20Papers/Annual%20Report/Annual%20Report%202015-16/ISAB%202015-16%20Annual%20Report%20v5.doc#_Toc456011291
../../../../../../../Social_Services/Joint%20SS%20and%20PCT%20Area/Safeguarding%20Adults/Safeguarding%20Board/Key%20Board%20Papers/Annual%20Report/Annual%20Report%202015-16/ISAB%202015-16%20Annual%20Report%20v5.doc#_Toc456011293
../../../../../../../Social_Services/Joint%20SS%20and%20PCT%20Area/Safeguarding%20Adults/Safeguarding%20Board/Key%20Board%20Papers/Annual%20Report/Annual%20Report%202015-16/ISAB%202015-16%20Annual%20Report%20v5.doc#_Toc456011295
../../../../../../../Social_Services/Joint%20SS%20and%20PCT%20Area/Safeguarding%20Adults/Safeguarding%20Board/Key%20Board%20Papers/Annual%20Report/Annual%20Report%202015-16/ISAB%202015-16%20Annual%20Report%20v5.doc#_Toc456011296
../../../../../../../Social_Services/Joint%20SS%20and%20PCT%20Area/Safeguarding%20Adults/Safeguarding%20Board/Key%20Board%20Papers/Annual%20Report/Annual%20Report%202015-16/ISAB%202015-16%20Annual%20Report%20v5.doc#_Toc456011297
../../../../../../../Social_Services/Joint%20SS%20and%20PCT%20Area/Safeguarding%20Adults/Safeguarding%20Board/Key%20Board%20Papers/Annual%20Report/Annual%20Report%202015-16/ISAB%202015-16%20Annual%20Report%20v5.doc#_Toc456011304
../../../../../../../Social_Services/Joint%20SS%20and%20PCT%20Area/Safeguarding%20Adults/Safeguarding%20Board/Key%20Board%20Papers/Annual%20Report/Annual%20Report%202015-16/ISAB%202015-16%20Annual%20Report%20v5.doc#_Toc456011319


 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
4 
 

We are a partnership of organisations 
in Islington all committed to working 
together.  All our work is centred on 
safeguarding adults at risk from any 
kind of abuse and neglect. 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Who makes up the 
partnership? 
 
Age UK Islington – Andy Murphy, Chief Executive 
Officer 
 
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust – 
Claire Johnston, Director of Nursing  
 
Camden and Islington Probation Service –   Mary 
Pilgrim, Senior Probation Officer 
 
Care Quality Commission – Seaton Giles, 
Inspection Manager  
 
Community Rehabilitation Company- Joe Benmore, 
Acting Assistant Chief Officer 
 
Crown Prosecution Service – Borough Prosecutor 
 
Healthwatch Islington– Chief Executive, Emma 
Whitby 
 
HMP Holloway, Amy Frost, Deputy Governor 
 
HMP Pentonville, Kevin Reilly, Governor 
 
Independent Chair – Marian Harrington 
 
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group –Melanie 
Rogers  
  

Islington Clinical Commissioning Group - Dr Rathini 
Ratnavel 
 
Safer Islington Partnership – Alva Bailey, Head of 
Service, Community Safety, Islington Council 
 
Islington Council – Sean McLaughlin, Corporate 
Director for Housing and Adult Social Services 
 
Islington Safeguarding Children Board – Wynand 
McDonald, Board Manager 
 
London Ambulance Service, Islington – Patrick 
Brooks, Community Involvement Officer 
 
London Fire Brigade, Islington – Patrick 
Goulbourne, Borough Commander 
 
Metropolitan Police, Islington – Paul Cheadle, 
Detective Chief Inspector 
 
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust – 
Tracy Luckett, Director of Nursing & Allied Health 
Professionals 
 
Notting Hill Pathways – Linda Strong - Assistant 
Director 
 
Single Homeless Project – Liz Rutherfoord, Chief 
Executive 
 
Whittington Health NHS Trust – Doug Charlton, 
Deputy Director of Nursing & Patient Experience 
 

About us 

Page 22



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
5 
 

This review looks at what we, the Islington 
Safeguarding Adults Board, have done in 
the last year to safeguard adults in 
Islington.  

Anyone can be vulnerable to abuse or 
neglect. Adults with care and support 
needs are particularly vulnerable to abuse 
or neglect. 

Safeguarding in the Headlines 

Safeguarding continues to grab headlines in one 
form or another.   

Over the past year, the government has drawn 
attention to the horrific impact of modern slavery 
and human trafficking.  Several high profile cases 
have been in the news.  It is estimated that there 
are 28.9 million victims of modern slavery around 
the world.  Due to its hidden nature modern slavery 
is hugely under-reported.  The government is 
working on a plan of action to start to tackle 
modern slavery. Much work is yet to be done to 
prevent and respond to this new category of abuse 
both nationally and locally. 

An independent inquiry (known as the Mazar’s 
report) into Southern Healthcare was published.  
The report was commissioned by NHS England 
following the death of Connor Sparrowhawk in July 
2013 in a unit in Oxford run by Southern Health 
NHS Foundation Trust.The inquiry found that a 
mere 4% of unexpected deaths of people with a 
learning disability or mental health problems had 
been investigated. Over the next year, we will look 
at what we can learn and implement locally from 
the report findings. 

A public consultation and review of the 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS), which 
are part of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA), 
was undertaken by the Law Commission.  Read 
more about this in the Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards section of this report. 

Also in the headlines, has been the government’s 
work to prevent people being radicalised and 
potentially drawn into terrorism.  A new duty, 
known as the Prevent Duty, has been introduced.  
This duty requires certain public authorities to have 
due regard for the need to prevent people being 
drawn into terrorism.  Locally most of this work is 
being carried out by the Safer Islington Partnership, 
but as people with care and support needs can 
also be exploited by extremists, some responsibility 
for this prevention work is carried by the 
Safeguarding Adults Board. 

Police cells are generally unsuitable places for 
people experiencing mental health crises and can 
make them feel criminalised and distressed. The 
government has recognised that compassionate 
care for such people is best delivered in health-
based places of safety.  National measures have 
been introduced in the last year to reduce the use 
of police cells as a place of safety for people 
experiencing a mental health crisis, such as the 
Crisis Care Concordat.  Further changes to the law 
are being been proposed.  We are monitoring the 
local progress of this – see our statistics section 
further on in this report. 

Other developments 

Since the Care Act 2014 came into effect in April 
2015, we have been working hard to ensure that 
we meet the legal requirements.  Many of the 
requirements were already in place in Islington, 
such as having a Safeguarding Adults Board.  But 
other legal requirements have taken more time to 

 

Introduction 

Page 23



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
6 
 

set up.  For example, the Board must now work 
more closely with the prisons in the borough.  We 
also have to collect and analyse different data and 
take a more personalised, service user centred 
approach to safeguarding adults.      

We have negotiated a new Constitution for our 
partnership to better reflect the work we will be 
doing together under the Care Act.   

We have ensured a range of different organisations 
that play a key role in safeguarding adults are 
represented on the Board.  

We have issued guidance for professionals on the 
new categories of abuse now recognised in the 
Care Act, such as modern slavery, domestic 
abuse, financial abuse and self-neglect. Carers’ 
needs are also properly recognised for the first time 
by this law.  

The London Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults 
Policy and Procedure has been substantially 
revised and was launched in February 2016.  It has 
been adopted across London.  The procedures 
now reflect the Care Act 2014 principles and 
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) approach.   

The Care Quality Commission published national 
Fundamental Standards – the standards below 
which care should never fall.  In response, we’ve 
set up regular multi-agency RADAR meetings to 
track trends and concerns about care providers in 
Islington.  Our RADAR meetings are proving to be 
an effective way of monitoring how care providers 
are working to address concerns and improve 
standards.  

 

Page 24



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
7 
 

We listened to what you told us.  You asked 
us to do more to raise awareness about 
safeguarding adults and seek out people 
who might be harder-to-reach. 
 
We wanted to make sure that we connected 
with a wider audience too and had more 
impact on people who would not otherwise 
come to an event such as a Community 
Conference.  To do this, we held a month-
long series of events at various places in 
the borough in June 2015.   
 
  

 

Community outreach  
 
We took safeguarding to the public by having  
different events aimed at different target audiences.  
Our information leaflets were handed out at each 
event with many people wanting to take more for 
other people they knew. Our wristbands with 
contact details for reporting abuse printed on them 
proved particularly popular.   
 
Some of the events were: 
 

• An information stall at the Whittington 
Hospital NHS Trust.  This busy hospital 
was an ideal place to capture the through 
traffic of patients and staff.  Patients were 
interested in our safeguarding work and 
staff showed interest in our Mental Capacity 
Act and Deprivations of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) work. 
 

• An information stall at Moorfields Eye 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. We 
spoke to a large number of people raising 
awareness of neglect and abuse, 
particularly financial abuse.  Many people 
discussed their personal concerns and 
worries with us.   
 

• Information stall at Carers’ Week event at 
Islington Town Hall 
 

• Chapel Market information stall for the 
general public. This busy location helped us 
share information with a wide range of 
shoppers and residents. 
 

• Information stall at Finsbury Park Mosque 
as part of their Neighbourhood Open day. 
We were able to open up discussions with 
people attending the event, particularly the 
women’s group.   
 

• Information stall at Drovers Day Centre 
(Age UK) 
 

• Safeguarding Awareness event and open 
discussion held with the Islington Personal 
Budget Network 
 

• Centre 404 - Safeguarding Awareness 
event and open discussion with family 
carers 

 
• An event was held to mark World Elder 

Abuse Awareness day at Alsen Day 
Centre.  This included a large exhibition 
with works submitted by service users on 
their understanding of adult abuse and what 
it is like to be an older person or someone 
with a disability.  Prior to the event, staff 

  You said, we did 

Page 25



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
8 
 

World Elder Abuse Day Community 
Event - June 2015 
 
 
“Great exhibition – increases awareness of 
the difference degrees of abuse”   
 
“I have enjoyed my time here looking at the 
poems and art work that everyone has taken 
part. There are so much talent, and its good 
to show that we all care. Great Work” a 
family carer 
 
“A very full and deep exhibition. How easy it 
is to override peoples’ own thoughts. We 
must all take time to understand peoples’ 
own desires”  
 
“It is good to have friends, don’t be afraid to 
speak up if you are abused. I have enjoyed 
myself” Service User at Alsen Day Centre. 
 

 
 

held discussion sessions with service users 
to talk about their understanding of who an 
adult at risk of abuse and neglect is and 
what this meant to them.  Over 40 pieces of 
work were exhibited and included painting, 
poetry and prose. Staff and service users 
came from Lennox House (Care UK), St 
Anne’s Residential Care Home for Older 
People, Highgate Nursing Home, Alsen Day 
Centre, Daylight Resource Centre, St 
Martin of Tours and St Anne’s Nursing 
Home. 
 

• Exhibition of artworks by service users for 
Councillors at a full Council meeting, 
Islington Town Hall and Islington Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 26



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
9 
 

Our strategy reflects our commitment to 
safeguard adults from abuse and neglect in 
Islington. Keeping adults in Islington 
safeguarded from harm and at the forefront of 
all our activity.  

We keep our vision statement in mind: “to 
improve safety and people’s feelings of 
safety by promoting the right of all who are 
vulnerable to abuse to live free from abuse 
and negelct”.  

 

 

 

We have joined forces with Camden Safeguarding Adults Board and are working to a shared 3-year strategy  
with them. Because we are neighbouring boroughs we share many priorities and face similar challenges that 
need to be tackled.  Working alongside each other focusing on the same issues makes sense.  Although there 
is much to be gained from working together on these broad priorities, we have separate annual delivery plans 
tailored to the nuances of our local needs.  We are making steady progress in implementing this strategy. 

The joint strategy with Camden is based on 6 key areas of work.  These 6 key areas are shown in the diagram 
below and mirror the government’s key safeguarding principles: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

About our strategy 

Joint  
Safeguarding 

Strategy  

2015-18 

2. Prevention 
 

What it means:  
“I receive clear and simple 
information about what abuse is, how 
to recognise the signs and what I can 
do to seek help.” 

3. Proportionality 
 

What it means:  
“I am sure that the professionals will 
work for my best interests, as I see 
them and they will only get involved 
as much as needed.” 

4. Protection 
 

What it means:  
“I get help and support to report 
abuse. I get help to take part in the 
safeguarding process as much as I 

want and am able to.” 

6. Accountability 
 

What it means:  
“I understand the role of everyone 
involved in my life as a user of 
services.” 
 

1. Empowerment 
 

What it means:  
“I am asked what I want as the 
outcomes from the safeguarding 
process and these directly inform 
what happens.” 

5. Partnership 
 

What it means:  
“I know professionals treat my 
personal information in confidence, 
only sharing what is necessary, and 
work together to get the best result 
‘for me.” 

Page 27



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
10 

 

Although Islington Council leads on 
safeguarding adults in Islington, all of our 
partners are expected to, and do, contribute to 
our overall strategy.   
 
Below is a list of specific pieces of work our 
partners have undertaken during the year 
towards achieving our strategic aims.  

 

 

 

 

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
• Basic awareness training on PREVENT is 

provided as a part of Safeguarding adults 
training at Induction, Workshop to Raise 
Awareness of Prevent (WRAP) training is 
provided monthly to staff on a rolling 
programme for 2016/2017. 

• Ongoing Domestic Violence work being 
undertaken in conjunction with Solace 
Women’s Aid.  A training programme was 
provided across the Trust for key staff in 
high risk areas.  

 
 
Whittington Health NHS Trust 

• Continual provision of safeguarding adult 
training available within Whittington Health.  
This has included training on the new 
categories of abuse such as self-neglect 
and preventing radicalisation.  The Trust is 
implementing the Islington Council 
Hoarding Protocol.  

• Introduction of weekly safeguarding adults 
meetings in the Emergency Department to 
discuss cases of concern. 

• Significant increase in numbers of DoLS 
identified since specific DoLS and MCA 
training has been rolled out across inpatient 
services. Islington DoLS office are kindly 
providing additional training for those staff 
members who complete Form 1, to ensure 
all relevant information has been given, and 
so reduce any delays.  

• A central database for DoLS has been 
developed, which also looks at the expiry 
date for the DoLS. Close liaison ensures 
coroner is informed if inpatient subject to 
DoLS dies 

 
• The Vice-President of the Court of 

Protection booked to speak with staff about 
the DoLS framework at an event 

• Training includes use of DoLS and MCA, 
and specific training has been given to 
community teams around use of the MCA. 

 

Camden & Islington Mental Health Foundation 
Trust  

• Basic awareness raising of Prevent has 
been included in their staff induction 
programme. Plans underway for E-learning 
and WRAP 3 training to be delivered as part 
of safeguarding training programme in 
2016-17.  

• Much has been done to embed the Mental 
Capacity Act (MCA) and Deprivations of 
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) in practice. This 
includes the appointment of a MCA lead.  
MCA and DoLS policies have been 
introduced. Briefing sessions provided on 
all inpatient wards, community rehabilitation 
team and psychiatric liaison services with 
regards to the Cheshire West ruling. These 
included introducing a tool to record 
voluntary admissions which ensures that 
the alternatives to admission / deprivation of 
liberty are explored.  

• DoLS information and fact sheet created 
and distributed to all service lines inpatient 
settings about the DoLS process.  

• A central database created by the MCA 
Lead to monitor the use of DoLS across the 

Partner work on our strategy 

Page 28



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
11 

 

Trust and also to highlight the type of DoLS 

(emergency/Standard) request and when  

 

they lapse, so staff can be prompted to 
request a further DoLS if there is still a 
deprivation of liberty.  

• Audited admission of ‘Voluntary Patients’ 
and highlighted services/wards where 
further training is required. 

• Meeting of MCA Lead and Islington DoLS 
staff to address potential DoLS in 
Supported Accommodation. Plan of action 
devised to ascertain all sites where service 
users are in supported accommodation. 
This has improved monitoring and 
performance.  

• Training around use of the MCA, where to 
record on Carenotes and DoLS awareness.  
Basic awareness training in MCA and DoLS 
is now also incorporated into level 1 and 2 
safeguarding adult training and this will be 
continued in 2016-17. 

• A 2 year domestic and sexual abuse 
research project (AR-DSA) which began in 
Nov 2013 has trained over 350 staff to date 
in domestic and sexual violence including 
harmful practices and more recently Female 
Genital Mutilation (FGM). Training has been 
embedded in safeguarding levels 2 & 3 as 
well as the provision of 3 hour stand-alone 
sessions. The training programme will 
continue for the next 12 months and 
incorporate issues of diversity (interpreters, 
language barriers). Research results will be 
collected in mid-2016 and this will gauge 
the impact of interventions. 

• Domestic violence training on working with 
people who have no recourse to public 
funds was also delivered in Jan 2016 and 
will be repeated in 2016-17. 

• Clinical Risk Assessment Policy was 
updated to incorporate domestic and sexual 
abuse. 

• Domestic & Sexual Abuse policy was 
finalised in November 2015 and also 
incorporated into the revised Safeguarding 
Policy- Dec 2015.  

• On International Women’s Day in March 
2015 a trust wide seminar was held on 
harmful practices and 23/11/15 hosting a 
one day “White Ribbon” Event” and the 
theme for the day was Harmful practices. 
The event was very successful, attended by 
over 60 staff and included speakers from 
community groups such as Afruca, IKWRO 
& Hopscotch. 

• The Trust is developing a safeguarding 
dashboard to be finalised in 2016-17. It will 
include information on all safeguarding 
concerns and allow a “deep dive” into 
numerous areas of data including specifics 
around domestic violence, demographics 
and identification of alerts raised in relation 
to minority groups. 

• Internal audit of recording safeguarding in 
local authority and Trust data systems 
undertaken in Feb 2016. A work plan to 
ensure both align will be developed in 2016-
17.  

 
 
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

• The number of cases referred to the 
Channel Panel has increased which 
indicates a better understanding across 
agencies of preventing vulnerable people 
from being groomed into terrorism or 
extremism.  NHS providers are 
contractually required to have a delivery 
plan in place for Prevent.  The CCG is 
monitoring this quarterly. 

• Work underway to update CCG policy and 
online training package. Face to face 

Page 29



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
12 

 

training has been updated to include the 
new categories of abuse.  

• The CCG alongside the SAU has delivered 
training to independent contractors (GPs, 
Dentists, Pharmacists, Optometrists) 

 
 

London Metropolitan Police 
• Protocol In relation to S136 of Mental Health 

Act 1983 (MHA) as well as people arrested 
and brought to hospital for example, due to 
a seizure in police station, is in 
development.  This is being used as a pilot 
project for the rest of London.  

• Islington Police officers have received 
further training on Hate crime. 

• A Proactive Domestic Abuse team has been 
launched and was nominated for the Team 
award at the Metropolitan Police’s Domestic 
Abuse Achievement Awards. 

 

Islington Council 

• Islington Council continues to ask people 
how they want to be kept safe.  This is 
monitored through monthly case file audits 
of individual safeguarding cases. This 
year’s annual survey sent to all service 
users by Islington Council included 
questions on perceptions of safety.  Survey 
responses are being used to inform 
practice.  

• Islington Council’s Making It Real board did 
a piece of work on keeping safe, which was 
supported by the Safeguarding Adults Unit.   

• A new case file audit tool is being developed 
to ensure an outcomes-based approach is 
being implemented by practitioners. 

• Expanded information has been added to 
the Council’s webpages.  Additional 
information has been added to the Links for 
Living website.   

• The Council has continued to raise 
awareness of financial abuse. A  Leaders in 
Safeguarding meeting had a focus on 
financial abuse. The Council’s Trading 
Standards team in collaboration with the 
police had event at Peel centre for older 
people for service users, banks and police. 

Islington Council has signed up to CiFAS to 
share intelligence on financial abuse. 

• Extremism & radicalisation is included in 
Safeguarding training. Practitioner guidance 
on radicalisation has been developed.  
Adult social care also participates in 
Channel meetings.   

• Practitioner guidance on safeguarding 
prevention has been updated. 

• The Safeguarding Adults Unit is now 
represented on the Islington Reducing 
Reoffending Board, which is helping to 
provide strategic link up between that 
Board’s work and issues for the SAB. 

• The Safeguarding Adults Unit has requested 
to be represented on the Domestic Violence 
Persistent Perpetrators Panel, again which 
will help the SAB to improve the strategic 
links between perpetrator work already 
being conducted in the Borough. 

• Practice guidance on domestic violence, 
forced marriage, female genital mutilation, 
self-neglect, modern slavery and 
radicalisation has been developed.  The 
practice guidance sets out both legal and 
non-legal interventions available. 

• Several practitioner briefing sessions have 
been held to ensure that practitioners 
understand the practice implications of the 
Care Act and the new London Safeguarding 
Adults Policy and Procedures. 

• An audit took place in December 2015 and 

Page 30



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
13 

 

Safeguarding Adults Professionals’  
Conference 

 
‘It was a great training session and was able to 
apply it to our risk assessments’ 
 
‘A very useful and informative conference. 
Highlighted the issue of hoarding and available 
support to manage this’ 
 
‘It was a fantastic learning event!! Thank you to 
all involved! :)’ 
 
 
 

practitioners are being encouraged to 
embrace the ‘Making Safeguarding 
Personal’ way of working. 

 
Single Homeless Project (SHP) 

• Safeguarding has been added to the Day 
Programme module on rights and 
responsibilities. 

• Safeguarding has also been incorporated 
into the programme induction. 

 
 
London Fire Brigade 

• A multi-agency debriefing session was 
hosted by the Fire Brigade following an 
accidental fire in a block of flats in 
Islington, which resulted in a number of 
people having to be re-housed 
temporarily. The Fire Brigade has been 
carrying out a lot of work to make sure 
lessons are learnt from this incident.   

• Staff at all levels in the Fire Brigade have 
received safeguarding adults training 

• A new training package has been 
commissioned which will be rolled out to 
all staff in 2016 which will be compliant 
with the Care Act 2014 and the new 
London Multi-Agency policy and 
procedures. 
 

 
Centre 404  

• Personalisation and a personalised 
approach is standard practice for all of their 
services, for example, regular involvement 
with service users and their families and 
service user and families are empowered to 
make choices and to be involved in decision 
making.   

• They have implemented, person centred 
support plans and one page profiles, take a 
positive approach to risk taking, and use 
person-centred goals.  

• Centre 404 has co-produced a leaflet on 
safeguarding and use of the internet, which 
was launched at an Elfrida event. 

 
Healthwatch 

• A lead manager for safeguarding adults is 
now in place. 

Notting Hill Housing 
• Given specific responsibility to the Care and 

Support Compliance Manager role for 
leading on Safeguarding (adult and 
children) across the organisation.  

• Launched a single, group-wide 
Safeguarding Policy in July 2015, 
incorporating changes from The Care Act, 
including ensuring the focus is on the 
individual and a holistic view. Procedures 
for adult and children safeguarding have 
been produced separately.  

• Training and briefings of the Care Act 2014 
have been delivered to all staff between 
July – October 2015, focussing on raising 
awareness. 

• Monitoring of cases is focused on case 
studies and outcomes, which are also 
reported to their Committee (who oversee 
the operations businesses). 

• Prevent is now covered in their training and 
briefings and forms part of the training for 
the student lets staff team, as this was 
deemed a higher risk group. 
 
 

London Ambulance Service (LAS) 
• LAS is monitoring safeguarding adults data 

for trends 
• LAS is monitoring training compliance for 

staff directly employed by the LAS as well 
as voluntary responders and private 
contractors 

Page 31



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
14 

 

For each key area of our strategy, we pledged to work together on several actions.  Most of this work was 
carried out by the 5 subgroups of our Board.  Each subgroup has responsibility for overseeing key parts of the 
strategy. 
 

 
 
 

 

1. Quality, Audit & Assurance  

Overseeing audits and making use of performance 
data to quality assure safeguarding arrangements 
locally is central to this subgroup’s work.  

During the year, the safeguarding adults case file 
audit form has been overhauled to ensure that risk 
reduction, mental capacity and referrer feedback 
are being competently addressed in safeguarding 
work. A small audit of self-neglect cases is 
underway.  The subgroup has examined 
performance data to make sure that safeguarding 
enquiries are being dealt with promptly and that 
investigation and protection work is thorough.  
Findings are being used to inform practice 
improvements. 

The subgroup has been working together with 
several partner organisations to get assurance on 
specific topics of interest. 

 Assurance from Whittington Health on 
practices to manage falls and pressure 
ulcers.   

 Assurance from Moorfields that they are 
making progress in embedding the Mental 
Capacity Act 2005 and Prevent awareness 
among staff.  

 Working together with Healthwatch on 
testing how well safeguarding concerns are 
handled by Islington Council.  Healthwatch 
gave positive feedback along with some 
constructive feedback on areas for 
improvement. The subgroup is working to 
ensure learning from 
this is embedded and 
drives improvements 
in practice. 

 
Jenab Yousuf 
Chair  
Quality, Audit & Assurance 
Subgroup 
 
 

2. Communications & Policy  
Our Communications and Policy subgroup focuses 
on: 

- Making sure people in Islington know what 

to do if abuse happens 

- Preventing abuse of people with care and 

support needs where possible. 

Subgroup work on our strategy 

Page 32



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
15 

 

Rising out of a partnership prevention workshop, 
the subgroup developed a prevention strategy. This 
was refined following public consultation.   
 
The subgroup has been working on making 
information and advice more accessible for the 
public. The communications campaign on 
compassionate care was completed.  A new 
communications campaign on preventing choking 
was developed in response to a Haringey Serious 
Case Review.  Both communications campaigns 
involved the development of leaflets, creation of 
webpages and submitting feature articles to various 
local publications to raise awareness. 
 
A Solihull publication on a Decade of Serious Case 
Reviews was reviewed to see whether there was 
any relevant learning.  From this, a checklist for 
partners was developed seeking assurance on 
several policy areas, including patient relationship 
policies, whistle-blowing policies and end of life 
care policies. 
  
The subgroup has been responsible for driving 
forward many of the changes brought about by the 
Care Act 2014.  It developed a new Constitution for 
the Board and new information-sharing agreement.  
A checklist for 
partner organisations 
to help ensure their 
internal policies are 
Care Act compliant 
was well received 
and has been copied 
by several other 
boards across the 
country. 
 
Claire Johnston 
Chair 
Communications & Policy Subgroup 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Learning & Development 
 
This subgroup focuses on people, particularly staff 
and volunteers, knowing what to do if abuse 
happens.  It also is responsible for making sure 
skilled staff and volunteers spot abuse and take 
timely and proportionate protection. 

Training has been updated in line with the Care 
Act, including the new categories of abuse, such as 
self-neglect.  More than 1,600 staff and volunteers 
from Board partner organisations were trained 
during the year. 

All training courses and e-learning modules now 
include information on Safeguarding Adults at Risk 
from radicalisation and extremism. 

Safeguarding Adults training such as the e-learning 
modules continues to be promoted across Islington 
to partner organisations, non-partner organisations 
and the general public.  Other training courses are 
made available to partners as appropriate and 
promoted through the training brochure. 

A learning log has been developed and has now 
been passed to the QAA 
Sub-Group for on-going 
use and assurance 
purposes. 

The subgroup continues 
to explore how the 
Bournemouth 
Safeguarding Adults 
Competency Framework 
can be used, 
implemented and 
outcomes measured. 

 

Neil Chick 

Chair 
Learning & Development Subgroup 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
16 

 

Training feedback 
 
Safeguarding Adults – Refresher training:  
 
‘The course was very beneficial in my making a 
decision on safeguarding’ 
 
Safeguarding Adults – An Introduction: 
 
‘it was very helpful information but insufficient time 
for more discussions as it was only 3 hours long’ 
 
Chairing and leadership in safeguarding meetings:  
 
‘A great course.  The facilitator provided us with 
clear, up to date and legible information which 
really helped to understand what the requirements 
of the role would be’ 
 
 

4. Safeguarding Adult Review 
Subgroup 

 

This subgroup has a role in making sure that 
serious cases are properly reviewed and any 
learning from them shared with partner agencies to 
avoid the same happening again in the future.  
Effective partnership is another focus of this 
subgroup in the partnership strategy.   

 

The workload of the Safeguarding Adults Review 
subgroup has increased significantly with several 
referrals having been received.  Mostly, this is due 
to the Care Act 2014 having introduced a slightly 
lower threshold for reviewing serious cases.  The 
referrals are also seen as a positive outcome to the 
training provided across agencies and shows an 
improved level of awareness and valuing of 
safeguarding adults reviews.  For further details of 
the safeguarding adults reviews conducted, see 
Section 11 below. 

 

The subgroup has adopted a new protocol for how 
to decide which referrals to accept as safeguarding 
adults reviews and which review mechanism is 
most appropriate to the nature of the case.  For 
example, some cases of harm or death will require 
a full, independently authored safeguarding adults 
review, while a lighter-touch multi-agency 
workshop might be better suited to other cases.  
Developing an efficient 
and effective working 
practice for dealing 
with safeguarding 
adults reviews will be 
key for the subgroup 
going forward.   

 

Paul Cheadle 

Chair 

Safeguarding Adult Review Subgroup 

 
 

5. Service User & Carer 
Subgroup 

 
Engagement is the focus of this subgroup in the 
partnership.  The service user and carer subgroup 
has met a couple of times and is gradually finding 
its feet.   

 

We are very pleased to have engaged and 
committed members.  Their energy and 
enthusiasm to work with the board is greatly 
valued.  Already contributions from this subgroup 
are influencing the direction and work of the Board.   

 

Eleanor Fiske 

Facilitator 

Service user & carer Subgroup 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 34



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
17 

 

 
Many people think of Islington as a wealthy 
and prosperous borough.  But this 
impression masks some hidden 
inequalities and social issues.   
 
For us to make sure we are safeguarding 
everyone in Islington, we need to get a 
rounded view.  This means we need to look 
at both people’s experiences and the 
statistics behind the work we do. This 
section looks at both.  
 

 

 
 

1. Experiences 
 
 
No two safeguarding cases are exactly the same. 
Every person is different.   
 
The only way we can truly personalise 
safeguarding is to find out about people’s 
experiences of safeguarding. We do this in a 
variety of ways.  
 
Auditing cases is one such way. Each month we 
carry out a small sample of cases to get a better 
understanding of what happened in the case. We 
also check that wherever possible people who 
were at risk of harm or abuse, got the outcome 
they wanted. Any learning or good practice is 
shared with professionals to help them develop 
their skills and improve service user experiences.  
 
Service users and carers feedback is another rich 
source of information for us. We engage with them 
through various ways such as our community 
conference. People’s feelings of safety are 
checked through surveys.   This year we conducted 
some face-to-face interviews to get more in-depth 
feedback from people who had been through the 
safeguarding process.  Learning from this has been 
shared with staff. 
 
Engaging with carers and service users and the 
public is an area we have worked hard to develop.  
Our newly formed Service User and Carer 

subgroup will give us the chance to get a fresh and 
meaningful perspective on the work we do.  Their 
views are already starting to influence the 
approach the Board is taking. 
 
Our Quality, Audit and Assurance subgroup also 
reviews patient and service user compliments and 
complaints alongside data to get a more rounded 
picture of people’s experiences. 
 
We are very grateful to all service users and carers 
who have given us feedback.  It is their 
experiences and insight that help to drive forward 
best practice in safeguarding adults.

Experiences and Statistics 

Page 35



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
18 

 

 

2. Statistics 
 
Analysing statistics is useful.  It helps us to: 
 

• understand how we are doing  
• compare our performance over several years 
• pick up trends and anomalies 
• identify what we need to work on in the future 

 
Our Board does this by receiving regular reports on 
safeguarding performance data.  Our Quality, Audit & 
Assurance subgroup also delves into the data in more 
detail at its meetings. 
 
 

 
 
 

3. Concerns & Enquiries 
 

 
 
 

When someone reports a concern about abuse or 
neglect of an adult with care and support needs, it 
is known as a ‘safeguarding concern’.   
 
Concerns have increased by 26% on the previous 
year.   
 
For the year 2015/16 we had 1464 concerns about 
possible abuse (concerning a total of 1129 
individual people).  For the previous year 2014/15 
we had 1165. 

After someone reports a concern to us, we gather 
more information about the person and the 
concern.  Once this has been done, we decide 
whether the case needs to be looked into further in 
a formal safeguarding enquiry under Section 42 of 
the Care Act 2014.   
 

In 2015/16 we had 592 safeguarding enquiries. 
(40% of the total concerns raised).     

This is an increase of 4% on the previous year.  

 
 
                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The words we use 
 
Since April 2015, some of the terms we use 
changed. This is because the Care Act introduced 
new terms for us to use. The term ‘safeguarding 
referral’ was replaced with the term ’safeguarding 
concern’. ‘Safeguarding investigations’ are now 
known as ‘safeguarding enquiries’.  
 

Comparing apples with pears 
 
This year, our data should be treated with 
caution. Since the Care Act 2014 came into 
effect: 
 

• we have had to collect slightly different data 

• there are new categories of abuse 

• the thresholds for safeguarding concerns have 
changed 

• we have had to change the way we look into 
concerns 
 

This means that comparing this year’s data with 
last year’s data may be slightly misleading 
because the two data sets are not always 
directly comparable. 

Page 36



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
19 

 

 
 
 
 

       Safeguarding concerns 
 

 
 
The above chart compares the number of concerns which became formal safeguarding enquiries in the last 
year with the previous year.  These are not directly comparable with last year’s figures.  This is, because the 
thresholds for conducting a safeguarding enquiry under the Care Act are slightly different from thresholds that 
applied last year when we conducted investigations under ‘No Secrets’ government guidance.  
 
Reports of concerns have increased 26% on the previous year.  At first glance, this may seem like an alarming 
statistic.  However, it is important to note that this increase does not mean that more abuse took place – only 
that more concerns were reported to us.  This may be due to people being more aware about the need to 
report abuse and neglect of adults.  With the introduction of the Care Act, we have been delivering training to 
many organisations and sending information about the need for them to update their policies and procedures.  
It is possible that this has had a ‘fresh in the mind’ effect and resulted in more concerns being reported.   
 
In 6 out of ten cases, people were worried about an adult but when we looked into it, we decided not to take it 
further to make a formal safeguarding adults enquiry.  This has increased since 2014-15, when only 5 in 10 
cases turned out not to be a safeguarding issue.  In such cases, the Access and Advice team of social 
services signposts the adult to appropriate services or give general advice and support.  
 
We will keep an eye on this trend.  We will ensure we give feedback to people who report concerns so that in 
future people are better able to identify what is a safeguarding concern and what is not. 
 
  

Page 37



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
20 

 

 

4. People who raised concerns 
 

People who raised their concerns 
 

ypes 
 
The different types of abuse that were investigated are shown in the chart below: 
 
 

 
 

 

This chart shows that health staff reported more concerns to us than any other category of person.  However, 
fewer than half of those concerns went on to be looked at in a safeguarding enquiry.  We will continue to 
monitor this trend and make sure that training for health professionals is refined to ensure that appropriate 
concerns are reported to us. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The people who are most likely to report concerns about abuse and neglect are health and social care staff. 
This is not surprising because health and social care staff get a lot of training and advice on spotting abuse 
and neglect. Also, adults with care and support needs are likely to be visited or monitored regularly by health 
and social care staff.  
 
As abuse and neglect often take place in people’s own homes, extended family and friends are in a good 
position to spot abuse too. We continue to raise awareness among unpaid carers and the general public about 
how to spot abuse and neglect and how to report concerns.  

This chart refers to the 1464 concerns which were reported during the year. 

Page 38



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
21 

 

 

5. Types of abuse  
 
The different types of abuse that we made safeguarding enquiries into are shown in the chart below: 
 

 

 
 
 
We completed 476 safeguarding enquiries during the year.  Some cases involved more than one type of 
abuse.   
 
The chart above shows that over the course of 2015/16, the three most common types of abuse we made 
safeguarding enquiries into were physical abuse, financial abuse and neglect. This is broadly similar to 
previous years.  
 
For the first time, we now have a duty to look into concerns about additional types of abuse, namely: domestic 
violence, modern slavery and self-neglect.  As the chart above shows, during the year we did not make any 
enquiries into concerns about modern slavery or sexual exploitation of adults with care and support needs.  
This may indicate that we need to do more to raise awareness of these new categories abuse.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
22 

 

 

6. Where abuse took place 
                     

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Abuse and neglect in care homes and hospital often make media headlines. Media coverage of abuse and 
neglect makes it seem as though care homes and hospitals are unsafe places for people with care and 
support needs.  But this chart shows the real story – that more than half of all cases of abuse and neglect take 
place in the adult’s own home.  Similar statistics are found across the country. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This chart refers to 476 safeguarding enquiries which were completed during the year. 
Some cases involved more than one location of abuse. 

Page 40



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
23 

 

7. Decisions taken 
 

Outcome of safeguarding enquiries during this year 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
The number of cases where we determined abuse took place (substantiated and partially substantiated) has 
risen slightly in the last year. 
 
 In 45 cases we stopped the safeguarding enquiry because the adult asked us to. We always try to follow the 
adult’s wishes. Only where there are serious risks to other adults or children will we carry on investigating.  In 
161 (34% of) cases, the adult has been assessed as lacking mental capacity to make an informed decision 
about the safeguarding concerns.  In these cases, we take into account the views of the adult’s representative, 
family or friends. Where the adult has no one to represent their views, we appoint an Independent Mental 
Capacity Advocate (IMCA).  
 
We are pleased that there are fewer cases where the outcome was inconclusive. Making a decision about 
safeguarding concerns isn't always easy.  It takes great skill and care to investigate concerns thoroughly. We 
always try to work out whether abuse has taken place or not but sometimes there is not enough evidence to 
say with certainty. Even when it is not possible to say whether abuse took place, we always try to manage the 
risk with the person concerned.  
 
 
 
 

This chart refers to 476 enquiries which were completed during the year.  These include 
some cases which were started in the 2014-15 year, but completed in 2015-16.   They 

exclude cases which had not been completed because the outcome had not been decided 
yet. 

Page 41



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
24 

 

This chart refers to 235 completed enquiries where abuse was substantiated (164) or partly 
substantiated (71) 

8. Action to help the adult  
 

Did we take action about concerns? 
 

 
 
 

                                         
 
 
 

In 100% of cases where we agreed some level of abuse or neglect had taken place and we took action to 
safeguard or support the adult involved. We are pleased to have fully addressed this area of practice since last 
year when only 96% cases resulted in action.   
 
These figures suggest that our safeguarding involvement is worthwhile because it always resulted in action. 
For further detail on the kinds of actions we took, see the graph on the next page.  
 
In 1% of cases, the social workers took action, but did not record this.  We will follow this up with the social 
workers to improve their case recording skills. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
25 

 

 
 

9. Outcome for adult at risk 
 
 

Outcome for adult at risk where concern substantiated / 
partially substantiated 

 
 

* MARAC is an acronym for Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Increased monitoring is the most common action taken to protect an adult. Increased monitoring could 
include family and friends agreeing to visit an isolated adult more often or a community nurse visiting a 
patient at home regularly to check for pressure sores and give regular advice and support. 
 
There were 241 cases where we decided the abuse or neglect did not happen, we could not say whether 
abuse took place or an adult asked us to stop the safeguarding enquiry.  Under the Care Act 2014, there 
is much more emphasis on us respecting the wishes of the adult wherever possible.   
 
For those 241 cases, we made the most of the opportunity and took action to prevent the possibility of 
harm in the future where possible.  
 

 

This chart refers to 235 completed enquiries where abuse was substantiated (164) or partly 
substantiated (71) 

*There may have been more than one outcome for each adult at risk. 
 
 

Page 43



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
26 

 

 
 

10. Action taken against people alleged to have caused 
harm 

 
 

Outcome for person alleged to have caused harm where 
concern substantiated / partially substantiated

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This chart shows that in almost half of cases, continued monitoring was the action taken against the person 
found to have caused harm. An example of this is where a care worker was found to have caused a patient to 
develop a pressure sore because they had not turned the bedbound patient frequently enough. In this case, 
the care worker may be monitored and supervised more closely by managers as part of the safeguarding plan.  
 
In some cases, the concerns are serious enough for the Police to take action.  The action that the Police take 
ranges from giving cautions, pressing criminal charges against the person alleged to have caused harm or 
working to achieve a community resolution.   
 
The Community Risk Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (CRMARAC) has proved to be an effective 
way of dealing with some people alleged to have caused harm.  The CRMARAC has secured funding for a 
dedicated mental health practitioner to work on some long standing cases.   In the last 12 months, 75 cases 
have been referred to the CRMARAC. Repeat calls, particularly about anti-social behaviour to Police have 
fallen as a result.   

This chart refers to 235 completed enquiries where abuse was substantiated (164) or partly 
substantiated (71) 

*There may have been more than one outcome for each person alleged to have caused harm. 

Page 44



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
27 

 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Case study 
 
Mr G is an older person living in a Care Home. As Mr 
G did not have any relatives or friends to care for 
him, he was placed in there when it became clear he 
was not managing in his home.  His health was 
deteriorating and he seemed no longer able to 
manage his finances.   
 
Following his move into care, it was noted by the 
Council’s Environmental Health team that Mr G’s 
property was deteriorating rapidly and was in need of 
repair.  
 
The Council applied to the Court of Protection to take 
over the management of Mr G’s property and 
finances.  Once this order was issued by the Court of 
Protection, the Council’s Client Affairs Team 
discovered several people living in Mr G’s home.   
 
A safeguarding enquiry was started.  After looking 
into the matter, it was discovered that Miss T, a 
neighbour, had rented the rooms out falsely claiming 
to act on behalf of Mr G.  A safeguarding plan was 
agreed and the Council took action through the 
Courts to evict the occupants from Mr G’s home.  
Miss T was arrested for Breach of the Peace as she 
refused to give Council staff access to the property.  
After giving enough time for the evicted tenants to 
recover their belongings the house was put up for 
sale and sold at Auction well above the target cost. 
 
Mr G was supported to manage his finances and his 
assets in a way that benefitted him in the long term. 
From the sale of his property, Mr G now has enough 
money to cover his care costs, provide him with 
anything that he wants and give him the best quality 
of life in his current care home. 
 
 
*Details have been changed to protect identities. 

Page 45



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
28 

 

 
 

 
 

11. Police action 
 
The police collect data on their activity relating to adults with mental health needs.  The chart below shows that 
the Police helped more than 100 people last year who were having a mental health crisis.    
 
The number of people helped in Islington is slightly higher than the average for other London boroughs.  This 
is likely because Islington is the most densely populated borough in London.  
 
The government has been encouraging services to work together so that people experiencing a mental health 
crisis are taken to a hospital instead of a police station.  Although police stations can legally be used as places 
of safety, they are not ideal environments for people in mental distress. 
 
 

Police action to help adults with mental health needs during the year 
 
 

 
 
The data used in this chart comes from the Police Merlin database.  It is a database used to report missing 
persons and Children & Adults who have come to the notice of the Police due to any of a number of risk 
factors. Merlin is used to refer those concerns to partner agencies, such as mental health services. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
29 

 

 
 
 
The table below shows the number of adult abuse crimes recorded by the police.  It relates to the year April 
2015 – March 2016.  The data comes from CRIS, which is the Police Crime Database.  The CRIS database 
acts as a case management system for logging and recording crimes.  
 
The table shows that only 2 cases of disability hate crime were reported to the police during the year.  This is a 
similar to picture to other London boroughs.   
 
We know from research that people are often reluctant to report disability hate crime.  The Board continues to 
raise awareness of disability hate crime and empower victims to report their concerns.  
 
 
 

  Total Victims 
recorded on 
CRIS Aged 
18+ Years 

Vulnerable 
Adult Abuse 

Victim 

Vulnerable Adult 
Victims 

Disability 
Related 

Hate Crime 
Victim 

All vulnerable 
adult Victims 
as % all CRIS 
adult Victims 

Islington 
total 

1614 2 0 2 0.2% 

All London 
boroughs 
total 

42460 81 0 64 0.3% 

All London 
boroughs 
average 

1327 3 0 2 0.3% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
30 

 

 
 

Breakdown of victims’ needs recorded by Police
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The chart above shows the type of disability of victims of crime in the last year in Islington.   
 
The chart shows that the most common disability of victims of crime was physical impairment.  This is similar 
to the trends we see in our safeguarding adults data too. 
 
Islington has a higher number of disabled people living in the borough than in some other London boroughs.  
Therefore, it is not surprising that the chart above also shows that Islington has more disabled victims of crime 
than the London average.   
 

The above table and chart refer to data captured by the Metropolitan Police Service 1 April 2015 – 
31 March 2016 on their CRIS database. 

 

Page 48



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
31 

 

12. The impact of safeguarding 
 

Impact of safeguarding actions where concern was substantiated / partly substantiated
 

 
 

 
 

The purpose of safeguarding is to help people feel safer. One of the ways we measure this is by looking at our 
safeguarding actions to see if they have reduced the risk of future abuse or neglect happening. The above 
chart shows that in 94% of the cases, our actions have either removed or reduced the risk of harm.  
 
In only a very few cases, the risk remains. Usually, this is the adult’s choice. We always check first that the 
adult has the mental capacity to make decisions about the risk, is comfortable with the risk and understands 
the possible consequences of not taking steps to reduce the risk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This chart refers to 235 completed enquiries where abuse was substantiated (164) or partly 
substantiated (71). 

 

Page 49



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
32 

 

13. Safeguarding Adults Reviews
 
The purpose of a safeguarding adults review 
is to learn lessons from a serious injury or 
the death of an ‘adult at risk’.   
 
The learning is shared widely and looks at 
what needs to change to reduce the risk of 
further such incidents. 
 
 
 
  

 
In our previous annual report we reported on the 
serious case review about a man (Mr AA) who died 
aged 86 in June 2013.  The full serious case review 
report was been published and is available on our 
webpages.   
 
During the year, we have been implementing the 
action plans and recommendations from that 
serious case review.  Progress in implementing the 
actions plans is being monitored by our 
Safeguarding Adults Review subgroup and by the 
Board. 
   
Four requests for safeguarding adults reviews were 
received during the year. One of the requests didn’t 
meet criteria for a safeguarding adults review.   
 
A request (which related to Ms BB and Ms CC) was 
taken forward as a safeguarding adults review and 
is currently underway.   
 
Another two cases were handled by holding multi-
agency reflective workshops.  These workshops 
identified learning from the cases, which included; 
 

• The need to clarify responsibilities of 
professionals, particularly for people with 
complex needs 

• The importance of giving feedback to people 
and professionals who report concerns or 
request assessments 

• The need to review policies and procedures 
• Reviewing content of training 
• Working to improve communication 

 

• Development of triggers of concern when 
someone refuses services 

• Escalate case where capacity assessments 
of professionals conflict 

 
Another request received did not meet the criteria 
for a safeguarding adults review.  
 
So that learning from these reviews is meaningful 
and does not get ‘lost’, we have developed a 
learning log.  The learning log sets out actions that 
all partner organisations can implement, whether or 
not they were involved in the case or not.  The 
Board will keep this under review to ensure that 
partners are learning the lessons from these cases. 
 
 
 
 

Page 50

http://www.islington.gov.uk/services/social-care-health/adultprotection/Pages/seriouscasereviews.aspx


 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
33 

 

 

14. Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
 

Every adult should be free to do the things 
they want to do and live the life they want to 
live.   
 
If someone’s freedom is taken away in a 
hospital or care home, or restricted in 
another way, there are laws and rules in place 
to make sure that it is done appropriately and 
in their best interests.  The rules are called 
the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS).   
 
We monitor how these safeguards are used in 
Islington.   

DoLS applications have increased ten-fold since 
2014.  In March 2014, the Supreme Court handed 
down judgment in two cases: P v Cheshire West 
and Chester Council and P & Q v Surrey County 
Council. Those judgements, commonly known as 
Cheshire West, has led to a considerable increase 
in the numbers of people in England and Wales 
who are considered to be deprived of their liberty 
for the purposes of receiving care and treatment. 
Last year Islington received 796 DoLS referrals. 
The year before Cheshire West we received 37. 
 
We are very pleased to report that in spite of this 
we remain broadly within timescales on our DoLS 
applications.   
 
This compares very favourably with many other 
areas in the country.  (Roughly1  half of DoLS 
applications across the country have not been 
processed within timescales and properly.)  
However, keeping on top of DoLS applications has 
significant resource implications.  DoLS 
applications are time consuming and complex to 
process, but a decision to increase staff capacity 

                                                
1 Health and Social Care Information Centre, Mental 

Capacity Act 2005, Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards (England), Annual report 2014-15 
(2015) 

 
 

within Islington Council in 2014-15 has proved 
effective. 
Advocacy organisations both within and outside of 
Islington continue to struggle to provide us with 
paid Relevant Persons Representative’s (RPR) for 
un-befriended people on DOLS authorisations. In 
order to ensure that this important aspect of the 
safeguards are implemented we have appointed 
independent Best Interest Assessors (BIA’s) to act 
as paid RPR’s and this has worked very well and 
provided some excellent outcomes for our 
residents. 
 
Another important requirement of the DoLS 
legislation is that people who have DoL 
authorisations and subject to the safeguards have 
these reviewed at least on an annual basis. Care 
homes are often slow or don’t request these 
reviews so the DoLS service has put in place a 
system to remind care homes when DoLS 
authorisations are ending for their residents. 
Further to this we often, about half the time, start 
the review process ourselves to ensure that our 
residents continue to have the appropriate safe 
guards in place and that their care and treatment 
continues to be in their best interests. 

 
We have put in place systems to notify us when our 
residents have residential care packages agreed. 
This demonstrates our commitment to be pro-
active and ensure that the DoL safeguards are put 

Page 51



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
34 

 

in place early which is in line with legislative 
requirements and the DoLS code of practice.  
  
In the past year the DoLS team have instigated a 

number of initiatives to improve the service and 

outcomes for our residents. These include: 

 

Best Interest and Mental Health Assessors: 

 

Improved the quality of our assessments:  

 

• In the previous 12 months we have recruited 
and trained an additional 12 in house BIA’s. 
This will help reduce the reliance on 
independent BIA’s and reduce costs. 

• We have developed excellent working 
relationships with our best independent 
BIA’s and MH assessors who now prioritise 
referrals from Islington. 

• BIA Forums : The DoLS team hold regular 
fora to share best practice amongst 
practitioners and update them on latest 
case law 

• Continue to develop (with Camden) 
specialist training for BIA’s and MH 
assessors. 
 

Quality assurance 

Improving recording and monitoring systems:  

 We have implemented recording 

processes and systems to ensure 

assessments are received in a timely 

manner and renewal requests are 

submitted prior to expiry. A new 

module has been added to our client 

information system to ensure all 

practitioners are fully informed as to 

DoLS authorisation and all documents 

uploaded and available.  

 Ongoing and Continuous Monitoring: A 

system of appointing BIA’s as paid RPR’s 

has been implemented to ensure every 

Relevant Person on a DoLS receives a 

monthly visit which is reported and 

monitored by the DoLS office. 

 Informing and updating: A monthly 

newsletter is produced to keep BIA’s fully 

informed as to standards, best practice and 

guidance. Leaflets are updated and widely 

distributed amongst Managing Authorities 

for both Representatives and support staff.  

 

Prevention and Safeguarding 

Safe guarding concerns highlighted as part of 

the DoLS service are responded to 

effectively: 

 Unannounced visits to Care Homes : 

working with commissioning and the 

review team to ensure DoLS 

conditions are being implemented and 

integrated into care plans 

 Monitoring of all authorisations subject 

to conditions: Managing Authorities 

are regularly surveyed regarding 

implementation of conditions and to 

see if official Representatives are 

meeting their obligations. 

 A number of reviews of current DoLS 

authorisations have been instigated 

by our Supervisory Body where the 

Relevant Persons situation has 

changed significantly or other 

safeguarding concerns have been 

raised.  

 Annual Social Care Reviews brought 

forward following input from the DoLS 

process; a multi-agency /multi-

disciplinary approach to achieve the 

best possible outcome. 

 Care quality and safeguarding 

concerns highlighted and responded 

to quickly and effectively.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
35 

 

 

 

Publicity and awareness rising 

Raised awareness of the DoLS legislation among 

staff, partners and managing authorities: 

 

 Updated publicity / internal information, such 

as leaflets and webpages to ensure they 

fully reflect the Cheshire west ruling and 

produced DoLS newsletters.  

 Outreach work included visits to Care 

Homes and Hospital wards to improve 

knowledge of MCA / DoLS and improve 

efficiency of the referral process 

 Safeguarding / MCA conference held in the 

autumn where the new proposed DoLS scheme 

was introduced and consulted on. 

 Presentation to the CQC (March 2016) to 

highlight the positive work of the Islington 

Supervisory body in its implementation of the 

DoLS and positive outcomes for our residents. 

 

Good outcomes 

The implementation of the DoL safeguards ensures 

that our residents in hospitals and residential care 

homes are receiving their care and treatment in the 

least restrictive way possible and in their best 

interests.  

 

Other good outcomes and benefits from the 

implementation of the DoL safeguards have 

included: 

 

 Care quality and safeguarding concerns 
highlighted and responded to quickly and 
effectively 

 Annual Social Care Review brought forward 
following input from the  DoLS process 

 Improved implementation of the Mental 
Capacity Act at Hospitals and care homes 

 Lots of examples of restrictions being 
alleviated to enable Relevant Persons 
greater access to the community and 
reduce social isolation 

 Residents moved to more appropriate care 
homes 

 
 
Applications and authorisations  
 

 
 
 

2015-16 saw a 73% increase in DoLS referrals 
compared to the previous year.  
 
Across the London boroughs the average number 
of referrals processed (2014-15) was 220 per 
100,000 populations. Islington had 259 which is a 
significantly higher referral rate and reflects the 
speed and effectiveness of Islington’s response to 
the challenge of the Cheshire West ruling in 
comparison to other boroughs. 

Referrals from hospitals increased by 163%. The 
Whittington hospital experienced a significant 
increase in its referral levels. 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 53



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
36 

 

 
 
 

Total Deprivation of Liberty Safeguard referrals 
 

 
 

Renewal requests for people already subject to the DoL safeguards now make up 34% of all referrals an 
1000% increase on previous year. 
 
Just over half of all referrals were on behalf of people who have a diagnosis of dementia. This is a little lower 
than previously. People with a learning disability accounted for 13% of all referrals, which is again slightly 
lower than previous years. 
 
People with general physical and mental health conditions, e.g. delirium, general cognitive impairment now 
make up a significant percentage (34%) of all referrals. 

 
Referrals on behalf of people who are classified as ‘White UK’ made up 74% of all referrals, and referrals from 
other ethnic groups made up a larger percentage of referrals than previous years. 
 
 

Cheshire 
West  
ruling 

Page 54



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
37 

 

Managing authority for all Deprivation of Liberty Safeguard referrals 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Total Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards granted 
 

 

 
 

We commissioned  60 interpreters to work with our residents last year. This is a significant increase (275%) 
on the previous year. It reflects a greater ethnic mix of our residents in care homes and increase in hospital 
referrals. The main languages for which interpreters have been commissioned during the 2015/16 year 
included Greek, Polish and British Sign Language (BSL).  

 
 

Cheshire 
West  
ruling 

Cheshire 
West  
ruling 

Page 55



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
38 

 

Referrals from Hospitals  
 
Referrals from hospitals now account for a third 
(33%) of all DoLS referrals, however they only 
account for 7% of current authorisations. Many 
referrals from hospitals (50%) do not end up in an 
authorisation and those that do tend to be for very 
short periods. The main reasons for this include; 

 Patients are discharged home before 

authorisation granted 

 discharged into residential care 

 regain capacity 

 detained under the MHA 

 
Islington currently has 413 people in receipt of the 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. This is a 21% 

increase on the previous year. 
 
The vast majority (93%) of these are in care 
homes. Over half of these (56%) are in care homes 
outside of the borough with 7% in hospitals. 

 
We have 130 paid relevant people’s 
representatives (RPR’s) commissioned and in 
place monitoring the DoLS safeguards on behalf of 
our residents in care homes who are un-
befriended, that is they do not have any family or 
friends who are able to monitor their care and 
treatment or challenge the deprivation.  

 
The Government asked the Law Commission to 
review the Mental Capacity Act 2005.  The Law 
Commission consulted widely before making 
proposals to reform the law. Proposals included 
replacing DoLS with a ‘protective care’ scheme.  At 
time of writing this report, the government has just 
announced that it intends to publish draft legislation 
to replace DoLS by the end of 2016.  The 
implications of this will not be entirely clear until we 
see the draft legislation.

 

 
 

Page 56



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
39 

 

As we look ahead, there is always more to be 
done.   
 
We want the person we safeguard to be at the 
centre of everything we do.  Their wellbeing 
must be uppermost in our work.  Every 
person is an individual and their differing 
needs and priorities must be recognised.  
 

 
 
 

 

Our strategies 

We will continue to implement our joint 3-year 
strategy with Camden Council.  We already have in 
place our local action plan for next year.  Also, we 
will continue to implement our prevention strategy. 
 
Both plans are available for download on our  
webpages  here.  The plans  set out the 
commitments from our Board subgroups and 
partner organisations towards our long-term 
strategies. 
 

Making safeguarding personal 

This person-centred approach to safeguarding 
sounds simple.  But truly embracing it has meant 
changes to the way we all work.  It requires us and 
our partners to re-think the way we’ve been doing 
things.  We need to check that we really have 
adopted ways of working that put adults with care 
and support needs at the centre of everything we 
do. We will continue to monitor progress on how 
this approach is being implemented.  
 

Learning from mistakes 

Time and again, strikingly familiar findings come up 
in reviews of serious cases.   We know that this is 
the case across the country.  
 
We are determined to find a way to ensure that 
learning is properly embedded in partner 
organisations and that there’s continuity of learning 
from things that went wrong.  That’s why we’ve 
adopted a learning log.  Over the next year, we’ll 
review how effective the learning log is at capturing 

learning from serious incidents, deeply embedding 
learning and preventing future serious harm.   

 

Listening  

We look forward to seeing our fledgling service 
user and carer subgroup develop over the next 
year.  Service user and carer influence and has 
been missing from our several strands of our work 
and we are delighted that they will be able to 
engage directly with our work in the future. 
 
Currently, the group is being facilitated with support 
from the Council’s Safeguarding Adults Unit.  With 
time, we anticipate that they will start to set their 
own direction. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Next steps 

Page 57

http://www.islington.gov.uk/services/social-care-health/adultprotection/Pages/sap_board.aspx


 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
40 

 

Equality and Diversity matter to us. We want 
to make sure that all groups in Islington are 
part of our safeguarding work, when they 
need to be.   
 
In this part of our review, we look at how the 
Islington population is represented by the people 
who had safeguarding concerns raised about them.  
 
With their consent, we capture information about 
the age, sex, ethnicity, sexuality, mental capacity 
and service user category of the people we 
safeguard.  Having a clear picture of who we are 
safeguarding and where there are gaps, helps us 
decide where to focus our attention in the future. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Chart showing recorded age of the adult safeguarded 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
The chart above shows that in 2015-16 there was a large proportion of older people represented in 
safeguarding concerns.  This is consistent with national and international research which shows that the older 
an adult is the more at risk of abuse they become.  Therefore, it appears we are continuing to do well in 
encouraging people to come forward and report suspected abuse of older people. 

Appendix A 
Making sure we safeguard everyone 

                 The above two charts both refer to the 1129 adults who have had concerns raised concerning them. 

Page 58



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
41 

 

 

Chart showing recorded sex of the adult 
 

                    
 
 
 

This chart shows a similar trend to previous years. There were more concerns reported about women than 
men.  It is difficult to know whether this is because women experience more abuse, or whether abuse of 
women is more commonly reported than abuse of men.  National research (Scholes et al, 2007), shows that 
women are more likely than men to tell other people if they are harmed by someone. It is also widely accepted 
that women are more likely to experience domestic abuse than men.   

 

                 The above two charts both refer to the 1129 adults who have had concerns raised concerning them. 

Page 59



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
42 

 

 
Table showing recorded Ethnicity of Adults safeguarded during the year 

 
Ethnicity Adults who 

had concerns 
raised about 
them 

Islington adult 
population* 

%  

White British 510 98,322 0.52% 

White Irish 91 8,140 1.12% 

Other White (includes traveller of Irish 
heritage, gypsy/Roma and any other white) 

55 

 

34,053 0.16% 

Black Caribbean 93 7,943 1.17% 

Black African 53 12,622 0.42% 

Any other Black background 8 5,729 0.14% 

Asian Indian 17 3,534 0.48% 

Asian Chinese 11 4,457 0.25% 

Asian Pakistani 2 951 0.21% 

Asian Bangladeshi 4 4,662 0.09% 

Any other Asian background 19 5,430 0.35% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group 33 13,339 0.25% 

Other  

(includes any other ethnic group, information 
not yet obtained, refused to say)  

233 6,943 3.35% 

Totals 1129 206,125 0.55% 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
The table shows that concerns were raised for people from a range of ethnicities in 2015/16.  As in previous 
years it seems that safeguarding concerns about people who described themselves as being of Chinese 
ethnicity were least likely to be reported.  We have taken action to address this.  Our general leaflet on 
safeguarding is now available in Chinese but we will continue engage with this community to ensure that 
safeguarding concerns are not being missed. 
 
Different ethnic groups may have different proportions of adults at risk.  For example, the average age varies 
across ethnic groups in Islington.  In an ethnic group where there is a higher proportion of older people, we 
would expect to see more safeguarding concerns for that group.  

This table refers to the 1129 adults who have had concerns raised about them. The 

population data was released from the 2011 Census during the second, third and fourth 

data releases, which took place during 2013. Data was downloaded from 

http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/ 

 

Page 60



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
43 

 

 

Chart showing recorded Sexual Orientation of Adults safeguarded during the year 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In recent years we have started asking the adults we safeguard about their sexual orientation. Therefore the 
above chart is not complete and in almost half of cases, we did not record the sexual orientation of the adults 
concerned.  We will work towards creating an environment where staff feel confident asking questions about 
sexual orientation and the adults concerned feel safe disclosing their sexual orientation.    
 
The government estimates that roughly 6% of the UK population is lesbian or gay.  Although our data is not 
complete, there may be enough data to suggest that lesbian and gay people are under-represented in 
safeguarding concerns.  That’s why we’ve taken action.  We now have a representative from Stonewall 
Housing (an organisation which provides housing to Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) people 
in Islington on our Learning and Development Subgroup.  

These charts both refer to the 1129 adults who have had concerns raised about them. 

Page 61



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
44 

 

 
Chart showing recorded Adults main need during the year 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
We look at the care needs of the people who had safeguarding concerns raised about them.  This is to make 
sure that there are no particular group that are missing the safeguarding support they might need. 
 
As in previous years, there continue to be more concerns raised about people with physical disability than any 
other care need group.  This is consistent with other boroughs in London and across England. 
 
The chart shows that few concerns were raised for people whose primary need was that they care for 
someone else.  It suggests we may need to do more to make sure carers are receiving all the help they need, 
including safeguarding support. 
 
 

These charts both refer to the 1129 adults who have had concerns raised about them. 

 

Page 62



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
45 

 

 
The picture below shows how the Islington Safeguarding Partnership Board fits in with other organisations and 
partnerships.  The arrows and lines show who reports to whom. 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council – All elected councillors.  It is the lead body for the local authority. 

Executive – Eight councillors who are responsible to the council for running the local authority. 

Scrutiny – This is a group of ‘back bench’ councillors who look very closely at what the council does. 

Safer Islington Partnership – This is a group which looks at crime and community safety. It involves the 
council, police, fire service, voluntary sector and others. 

Corporate Director (for Housing and Adult Social Services) – Is responsible for setting up and overseeing the 
ISAB. 

ISAB – This has an independent chair who does not work anywhere else in the council or partner 
organisations. 

MAPPA – Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements is a group which oversees management of offenders 
who pose a serious risk to the public. 

ISCB – Islington Safeguarding Children’s Board works to safeguard children in the borough. 

MARAC – Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference.  This group responds to high risk domestic abuse. 

Appendix B 
How the partnership board fits in 

Islington Safeguarding Adults 
Board  

(ISAB) 

Partner 
Agency 

Executives or 
Boards 

MAPPA 

ISCB 

MARAC 

Corporate Director 

Safer Islington Partnership Executive Scrutiny 

Islington Council 
 

Sub-groups 

Local networks 

Page 63



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
46 

 

Engagement from our partners in the work we 
do is important.  While much of the work goes 
on behind the scenes, it is important for our 
partners to take part in the meetings. 
 
We hold quarterly Board meetings.  We invite our 
partners to attend an away-day and a challenge 

event.  This year’s challenge event was held with 
the Camden, Enfield and Haringey Safeguarding 
Adults Boards.  
 
The table below sets out the organisations that 
were represented at the board meetings throughout 
the year. 

 

Partner Organisation 
B

o
a

rd
  

M
e

e
ti

n
g

  

1
4

-M
a
y

-1
5
 

B
o

a
rd

  

m
e

e
ti

n
g

  

2
9

-J
u

l-
1

5
 

B
o

a
rd

  

m
e

e
ti

n
g

  

2
8

-O
c

t-
1

5
 

C
h

a
ll

e
n

g
e

  

E
v

e
n

t 
 

2
5

-J
a

n
-1

6
 

B
o

a
rd

  

m
e

e
ti

n
g

 

2
7

-J
a

n
-1

6
 

Independent Chair P P P P P 

            

Islington Council P P P P P 

            

Islington Safeguarding Children's Board A P P P N 

            

Safer Islington Partnership A P P P A 

            

Islington Clinical Commissioning Group P P P P P 

            

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust P P P p P 

            

London Fire Brigade P P P S P 

            

Camden & Islington Foundation Trust P P P A P 

          
 Whittington Health P P P P A 

            

Police P P A P P 

 
          

Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) A P A N A 

            

Probation A P P N A 

            

London Ambulance Service A A P A A 

Co-Opted Organisation           

Age UK Islington A A P A A 

Notting Hill Pathways P P P A P 

Healthwatch Islington P P P P P 

Single Homeless Project P P P P P 

Attendees           

Care Quality Commission (CQC) C C C C C 

NHS England ~ P N P N 

London Borough of Islington Councillor A P P P P 

      Key 
P = Present   A = Apologies no substitute      S = Substituted      
N = No apology/ substitute recorded      C = Does not attend; receives papers only

Appendix C 
Who attended our board meetings? 

Page 64



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
47 

 

 
Primary responsibility for safeguarding adults rests 
with Islington Council. But all Board partners are 
expected to contribute to the resources of the 
partnership.   
 
Partners’ contributions could be in one or more 
ways, including giving: 
 

 administrative support 

 venues for our meetings 

 expertise on our subgroups 

 financial support. 
 
Total money received during the year was £500 
from the London Fire Brigade and £5000 from 
London Metropolitan Police.   
 
Discussions are underway with other Board 
partners regarding future funding and resources. 
 
 
 
 

Appendix D 
Our resources 

Page 65



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
48 

 

 
The work of the Safeguarding Adults Board has a 
low impact on the environment in Islington.  
Environmental impacts include fuel use for vehicles 
visiting service users, carers and their family and 
other general office impacts such as paper and 
energy use.  Wherever possible we try to minimise 
the  impact on the environment.  For example, 
wherever we can we avoid printing documents and 
send out electronic versions instead to reduce 
paper and energy use.  From time to time we hold 
‘virtual’ meetings on line to cut our travel impact. 
 
Sometimes our work also highlights opportunities 
to reduce household environmental impacts.  For 
example, we might refer adults at risk to the 
Seasonal Health Intervention Network (SHINE). 
SHINE gives energy saving advice to residents.  
Not only does this help the environment, but it also 
reduces fuel poverty and improves the health and 
wellbeing of residents in Islington.  
 
For more information about SHINE, see  
http://www.islington.gov.uk/services/parks-
environment/sustainability/sus_awarmth/Pages/shi
ne.aspx 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix E 
Our impact on the environment 

Page 66

http://www.islington.gov.uk/services/parks-environment/sustainability/sus_awarmth/Pages/shine.aspx
http://www.islington.gov.uk/services/parks-environment/sustainability/sus_awarmth/Pages/shine.aspx
http://www.islington.gov.uk/services/parks-environment/sustainability/sus_awarmth/Pages/shine.aspx


 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
49 

 

Abuse 
Harm caused by another person.  The harm can be 
intended or unintended. 
 
 
Adult at risk 
An adult who needs care and support because of 
their age, disability, physical or mental health and 
who may be unable to protect themselves from 
harm 
 
 
Care Act 2014 
An Act that reforms the law relating to care and 
support for adults. 
 
 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
CCG’s are NHS organisations set up by the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 to organise the delivery 
of NHS services in England.  
 
 
Channel Panel 
Channel is multi-agency panel which safeguards 
vulnerable people from being drawn into extremist 
or terrorist behaviour at the earliest stage possible. 
 
 
Cheshire West 
In March 2014, the Supreme Court made a 
decision in two cases about three people who 
lacked the mental capacity to make decisions 
about their living arrangements. The Court decided 
that all three had been deprived of their liberty. The 
decision was important because it made the law on 
DoLS clearer. 
 
 
CRIS 
This is a Police Crime Database.  The CRIS 
database acts as a case management system for 
logging and recording crimes.  
 
 
Community Risk Multiagency Risk Assessment 
Conference (CRMARAC) 
A multi-agency meeting where information is 
shared on vulnerable victims of anti-social 
behaviour.  The aim is to identify the highest risk, 

most complex cases and problem-solve the issues 
of concern.  
 
 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLs) 
The process by which a person lacking the relevant 
mental capacity may be lawfully deprived of their 
liberty in certain settings or circumstances.  It 
operates to give such a person protection under 
Article 5 of European Convention on Human Rights 
(right to liberty and security).  
 
Sometimes, people in care homes and hospitals 
have their independence reduced or their free will 
restricted in some way.  This may amount to a 
‘deprivation of liberty’.  This is not always a bad 
thing – it may be necessary for their safety.  But it 
should only happen if it is in their best interests.   
 
The deprivation of liberty safeguards are a way of 
checking that such situations are appropriate. 
 
 
Female Genital Mutilation 
Female Genital Mutilation involves any kind of 
procedure that partly or total removes external 
female genitals for non-medical reasons and 
without valid consent. 
 
 
Making Safeguarding Personal 
A way of thinking about care and support services 
that puts the adult at the centre of the process. The 
adult, their families and carers work together with 
agencies to find the right solutions to keep people 
safe and support them in making informed choices.  
 
 
Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 
The Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 applies to 
everyone involved in the care, treatment and 
support of people aged 16 and over living in 
England and Wales who are unable to make all or 
some decisions for themselves. The MCA is 
designed to protect and restore power to those 
vulnerable people who lack capacity. 
 
 
 
 

Appendix F 
Jargon buster 

Page 67



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
50 

 

Merlin 
Merlin is a database used by the Police to report 
persons who have come to notice due to any of a 
number of risk factors, such as going missing. 
Merlin is used to refer those concerns to partner 
agencies, such as mental health services. 
 
Neglect 
Not being given the basic care and support 
needed, such as not being given enough food or 
the right kind of food, not being helped to wash. 
 
 
Safeguarding Adults Board 
Councils have a duty to work with other 
organisations to protect 
adults from abuse and neglect. They do this 
through local safeguarding boards. 
 
 
Safeguarding Concern 
Any concern about a person’s well-being or safety 
that is reported to adult social services. 
Safeguarding concerns can be reported by 
members of the public as well as professionals.  
 
 
Safeguarding Enquiry 
A duty on local authorities to make enquiries to 
establish whether action is needed to prevent 
abuse, harm, neglect or self-neglect to an adult at 
risk of harm.  
 
 
Seasonal Health Interventions Network (SHINE)  
SHINE aims to reduce fuel poverty and seasonal ill 
health by referring a resident on to a number of 
services. For example it includes referrals for 
energy efficiency advice and visits, fuel debt 
support, falls assessments, fire safety checks, 
benefits checks.  
 
 
RADAR meetings 
A meeting which looks at the quality of care being 
provided in care homes, care in your home and 
hospitals for older people in Islington. The meeting 
helps us to share information on services to 
improve the quality of care for service users.  
 

Prevent 
Prevent is part of the Government’s counter-
terrorism strategy. It involves safeguarding people 
and communities from the threat of terrorism and 
extreme views.  
 
Section 136 of Mental Health Act 1983 
(Mentally disordered person found in a public 
place) 
This law is used by the police to take a person to a 
place of safety when they are in a public place. The 
police can do this if they think the person has a 
mental illness and is in need of care.  
 
 
Section 135 of Mental Health Act 1983 
(Warrant to search for and remove patients) 
This law is used by the police to take someone to a 
place of safety for a mental health assessment.  
 
 
Section 5 of Mental Health Act 1983 
(Application in respect of a patient already in 
hospital) 
This law is used by a doctor or Approved Mental 
Health Practitioner (AMPH) to stop an adult from 
leaving a hospital in order to treat them in their best 
interest.  
 
 
Section 6 of Mental Health Act 1983 
(Application for admission into hospital) 
This law is used by a doctor or AMHP to admit an 
adult to hospital in order to treat them in their best 
interest. 
 
 
Workshop Raising Awareness of Prevent 
(WRAP) 
A specialist workshop created by the Government 
to help health and social care professionals 
understand the Government’s strategy on Prevent. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



 

Islington Safeguarding Adults Partnership – Annual Review 2015-16 
51 

 

 

Everybody can help adults to live free from 
harm. You play an important part in 
preventing and identifying neglect and abuse.  
 
If you suspect abuse or neglect, it is always 
safer to speak up!  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix G 
What should I do if I suspect abuse? 

 

All the people whose faces you can see in the photographs in this review have agreed for their images to be used. 

We hope you enjoyed reading this review.  If you would like to let us know your thoughts, please email: 

safeguardingadults@islington.gov.uk or write to us at: 

 

Safeguarding Adults Unit, Islington Council, 3
rd

 Floor, Newington Barrow Way, 

Islington, London, N7 7EP 

If you suspect abuse of a vulnerable adult, 

please contact: 

 

Adult Social Services Access and Advice 

Team 

Tel: 020 7527 2299 

Fax: 020 7527 5114 

Email: access.service@islington.gov.uk 

 

You can also contact the Community 

Safety Unit which is part of the police: 

Tel: 020 7421 0174 

 

In an emergency, please call 999. 

 

For more information: 

www.islington.gov.uk/safeguardingadults 
 

For advice on Mental Capacity Act  
&  

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards contact: 
 

Tel: 0207 527 3828 
Email: dolsoffice@islington.gov.uk 

 
For more information click here 

 

 

Page 69

mailto:safeguardingadults@islington.gov.uk
mailto:access.service@islington.gov.uk
http://www.islington.gov.uk/safeguardingadults
mailto:dolsoffice@islington.gov.uk
http://www.islington.gov.uk/services/social-care-health/disabled-people/mental-health/mca/Pages/dols.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY REVIEW INTITATION DOCUMENT 

Review: Improved Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
 

Scrutiny Committee: Health Scrutiny Committee 
 

Lead Officer: Simon  Galczynski, Service Director Adult Social Care 
 

Overall aim: To understand local arrangements for accessing IAPT services, and the 
effectiveness of these services in helping people recover from mental health conditions.  
 

Objectives of the review:- 

 To understand current arrangements and mechanisms for accessing IAPT service.  

 To review waiting times for IAPT services. 

 To assess the effectiveness of IAPT services  

 To feedback the findings of the scrutiny to providers 
 

Duration: Approx. 6 months 

How the review will be conducted 
 
Scope:  The services in scope of this time limited scrutiny review are NHS IAPT services 
commissioned from Camden and Islington Mental Health Trust (iCOPE).   
 
Types of evidence to be assessed: 
 

 Documentary evidence on national standards for access, waiting times and recovery 
rates. 
 

 Witness evidence from a range of relevant individuals and organisations 
 

a. Patient representatives and consumer organisations 
i. Patient representatives and groups e.g. Islington Borough User Group 

(IBUG) 
b. Commissioners 

i. Islington Joint Commissioning Team 
c. Providers 

i. Camden and Islington Foundation Trust 
 

Peer lead support arrangements are out of scope. 
 

 Visits? 
 
 

Additional information: 
In addition to the statutory IAPT service Islington has recently commissioned 3rd sector 
organisations to provide Talking Therapies to meet specific needs as below (contract 
commences September 2016).  
 

 Talking Therapy for people within Black, Minority Ethnics and Refugee (BMER) 
communities 

 Talking Therapy for people who have suffered child sexual abuse and/or domestic 
violence  

 Talking Therapy for people who have suffered bereavement 
 

Page 73

Agenda Item 12



This is commissioned under a lead provider model, the following organisations are involved.  

 Nafsiyat Intercultural Therapy Centre 

 Women’s Therapy Centre 

 The Maya Centre 

 Camden, City and  Islington and Westminster Bereavement Service 
 
 

 

Page 74



 
 
 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE HEALTH AND CARE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

HEALTH IMPLICATIONS OF DAMP           
PROPERTIES  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

London Borough of Islington 
September 2016 

Page 75

Agenda Item 13



1 

 

CHAIR’S FOREWORD 
 
. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 76



2 

 

Health Implications of Damp Properties Scrutiny Review 
 
Aim 
 
Evidence 
 
The review ran from June 2015 until September 2016 and evidence was received from a variety of 
sources: 
 

1. Presentations from witnesses – Katie White, Andover Estate TRA, Jan Manderson, 
Girdlestone Estate TRA, Ken Kanu – Help on Your Doorstep, Residents of Alderwick 
Court, Steve Phillips – Private Landlord, James Stone and Hayley Rowbottom – Hyde 
Housing Association 

 
2.   Presentations from council officers – Baljinder Heer-Matiana , Public Health, Damian 

Dempsey, Housing and Adult Social Services, Ellis Turner – Residential Environmental 
Health 

 
3. Documentary evidence – Office of Deputy Prime Minister 2006 Housing, Health and Safety 

Rating system 

 
 

Aim of the Review 
 
To understand the scale and nature of the negative health and wellbeing impacts of damp 
housing conditions in Islington, and the effectiveness of current arrangements and 
measures for tackling damp and its adverse conditions on health 
 
Objectives of the Review 
 

 To understand the relationship between damp housing conditions and health and 
wellbeing in general, and specifically the impact of damp housing on Islington 
residents health and wellbeing 

 To understand the extent of damp housing across all tenure types in Islington, and the 
current arrangements and mechanisms that exist for preventing, identifying, 
addressing and mitigating its impacts 

 To assess the effectiveness of current approaches to tackling both the structural and 
behavioural causes of damp, with a particular focus on health-related outcomes, and 
to make recommendations for increasing the impact of local measures, as appropriate 

 To particularly assess the impact of dampness on children and how it affects absence 
from school 

 
 
The detailed Scrutiny Initiation Document (SID) is set out at Appendix A to the report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



3 

 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
   The Health and Care Scrutiny Committee recommends to the Executive that the following 

measures be implemented to help deal with health issues related to damp properties: 
 

1. Rehousing of tenants:  Where there are damp issues in a property, and tenants are also 
reporting health issues, the Council is to presume that the damp is the cause of the health 
problems, and where tenants wish to be rehoused, the Council is to progress rehousing 
without requiring further evidence. RSL’s are also to be encouraged to adopt the same policy 

2. Experienced Damp Surveyor : To be employed by the Council to investigate and resolve 
damp problems. ( The Committee heard that the response of officers to complaints of damp 
is prone to inconsistency, and also repeat visits, for no apparent reason. Surveyor’s 
knowledge of damp-related issues is found to be variable.) 

3. Hyde Damp and Condensation Survey proforma: That following the Council’s 
Condensation Protocol discussion document, this proforma be adopted by the Council’s 
housing department and other RSL’s as a basic structure for investigating damp 

4. Systematic response by Council officers: Council surveyors, as well as adopting the 
standardised pro-forma under recommendation 3 above, should be consistent in their 
reporting their findings to residents. Residents report inefficiencies, with surveyors adopting 
different responses and strategies, and recommending different courses of action for similar 
types of damp problems 

5. Lifestyle issues: That the repairs department, when investigating complaints about damp, 
should constantly eliminate roof leaks, rising damp, plumbing issues and lack of insulation as 
causes of damp, before raising ‘lifestyle’ issues with residents. Many residents report a 
presumption on the part of Council surveyors that all damp issues are due to ‘lifesyle’, where 
in fact the issues are often building related 

6. Legal issues accessing leasehold properties: That the Council take robust legal steps to 
access all leasehold properties, where the damp issues appear to emanate from leasehold 
properties adjoining council tenancies. In addition, legal advice be taken on the scope and 
options to access leaseholder properties, and the advice circulated to al officers involved in 
damp investigations 

7. Help on Your Doorstep database: Help on Your Doorstep have offered the Council access 
to their database of residents with damp issues. The repairs department should take up this 
offer to help establish the true extent of dampness problems in the borough 

8. External Wall insulation: The Council should carry out external wall insulation, wherever 
feasible and cost effective on all Council estates in the borough. There should be a 
presumption that insulation works form a part of any major works undertaken. The success 
of the recent external wall insulation work at Holly Park Estate in saving energy costs and 
reducing dampness problems for residents, is evidence of the effectiveness of this strategy 

9. Improvement grants: Publicity be made available to private sector landlords on grants 
available for improvements to insulation for properties 

10. Clear information leaflets: Leaflets should be issued to residents on how to report and to 
deal with damp issues. This should also include advice on how to operate heating systems 
to maximum effectiveness and to deal with any condensation issues. Leaflets should also be 
made available to GP surgeries across the borough, and with GP’s being made aware of the 
existence of the leaflets, and asked to distribute them to tenants that present with damp 
related health problems 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



4 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MAIN FINDINGS 
 
Tackling cold and damp housing conditions is important because of its association with a range of 
health conditions, from common colds to asthma through to respiratory and heart conditions. Cold 
and damp homes are also associated with poor mental health and poor social and economic 
outcomes, as well as fuel poverty.  
 
Dampness and mould growth in Islington’s own housing stock has been addressed through 
improved heating, insulation and ventilation and the Council has begun an education and 
awareness campaign on condensation and its behavioural causes. 
 
Damp is the presence of unwanted moisture diffused through the air, condensed on a surface or 
within the solid substance of a building, typically with detrimental or unpleasant effects. Excess 
moisture often leads to mould growth on building surfaces. 
 
Moisture in buildings is most commonly caused by leaking pipes, wastes or overflow rain seeping in 
through the roof, spilling from a blocked gutter or penetrating around window frames or rising damp, 
due to a defective damp proof course or because there is no damp proof course. Where the source 
of moisture is not related to structural faults, leaks or rising damp or the newness of the property if 
plaster is still drying, it is probably due to condensation. 
 
Three factors contribute to the condensation of water on building surfaces – 
 
Humidity of indoor air – condensation appears when the indoor air in a room cannot hold the level of 
moisture. Warm air can hold more moisture than cold air. For example, running a bath causes 
steam. As the air in the bathroom fills up with water vapour, it can no longer hold all the moisture 

Page 79



5 

 

that it contains. As a result tiny drops of water appear and develop first on cold surfaces, such as 
mirrors and window sills. 
Low temperature – condensation can be worse when it is cold. The humid air comes into contact 
with cold surfaces, transforms into surface mist and then into water, which runs down the window, 
causing wooden frames to rot and wallpaper and painted walls to blister. 
Poor ventilation – Humidity of indoor air can be reduced by ventilation. If air exchange is 
inadequate, then humidity accumulates indoors and leads to increased condensation. In addition, 
walls remain cool when a lack of free movement of indoor air prevents warm air from reaching them. 
Mould may form where there is little movement of air, for example in a windowless basement or 
behind wardrobes. 
 
Normal everyday living results in significant amount of moisture production. Cooking, laundry, 
washing and human and animal respiration are the most significant sources of moisture in typical 
homes. The average family produces 10 litres of moisture every day. Managing this moisture is a 
necessary and important element of day to day home management. Households with children will 
tend to produce more moisture and children tend to experience the greatest health impacts from 
mould growth. 
 
Even when adequate heating and ventilation are installed, dampness and mould growth may still 
occur where window management and changes in approaches to drying clothes are put into place. 
Concerns about heating costs, misconceptions about heating patterns and concerns over extractor 
fan noise may mean households can sometimes, contribute to dampness levels. Supporting 
residents to change behaviour with regard to moisture management can be effective in making 
significant improvements to levels of condensation and damp. 
 
Exposure to damp and mouldy environments may cause a variety of health effects, or in some 
people have minimal or no effect. Some people are sensitive to moulds and for these people can 
cause nasal stuffiness, throat irritation, coughing or wheezing, eye or in some cases skin irritation. 
People with mould allergies may have more severe reactions, and immune compromised people 
and people with chronic lung illnesses, such as obstructive lung disease, may get serious infections 
in their lungs when they are exposed to mould. There is limited evidence also to show that indoor 
mould exposure can lead to respiratory illnesses in otherwise healthy children. 
 
Other recent studies have suggested that there could be a potential link of early mould exposure to 
development of asthma in some children, particularly among children who may be genetically 
susceptible to asthma development, and that selected interventions that improve housing conditions 
can reduce morbidity from asthma and respiratory conditions, but more research is needed on this. 
 
Other research has indicated an association between dampness, moisture and mould and the 
prevalence of respiratory symptoms amongst children of all ages. For instance, in one study 
children in homes with damp/and or mould were two and a half times more likely to have coughs or 
wheezing than children in ‘dry homes’.  A UK study also showed that visible mould is significantly 
associated with an increased risk of wheezing amongst 9-11 year olds. This is supported by other 
studies from Europe. 
 
Damp and condensation leads to cold homes, which can exacerbate fuel poverty, where a family 
cannot afford to heat its home to an adequate standard of warmth. The lower your income the more 
likely you are to be at risk of fuel poverty, putting you at further risk of social and health inequalities. 
There is strong evidence on the mental health and wellbeing impacts of fuel poverty and cold 
homes and the significant benefits to mental wellbeing from tackling fuel poverty. 
 
In addition, cold indoor temperatures affect and worsen other conditions, such as the common cold, 
flu, pneumonia, arthritis, rheumatism, and chronic and/or long term conditions and can also delay 
recovery from illness. Individuals in cold homes, particularly the elderly, may also be vulnerable to 
injuries from falls as a result of individual strength and dexterity. 

Page 80



6 

 

 
Research shows that people living in well insulated and adequately ventilated accommodation are 
less likely to visit their doctor or to be admitted to hospital due to respiratory conditions than those 
living in damp homes. 
 
Islington has the fourth highest prevalence of asthma and COPD in London in 2014 and the fifth 
highest number of emergency admissions for respiratory tract conditions among young children in 
2012/13, although the numbers of admissions have reduced from a peak in 2007/8. 
 
The Health Needs and Social Housing Profile 2012 for Islington found that in the areas of highest 
density of social housing, COPD prevalence is 24% higher than expected, as is the prevalence of 
asthma, 15%, depression 42%, dementia 42%, chronic liver disease 57%, stroke 14%, and 
psychotic disorders, 65%, even when age has been taken into account. 
 
Census data from 2011 shows that people living in rented accommodation in Islington are almost 
twice as likely to report that they have a limiting long term illness, than those who own their own 
home, more than 3 times as likely for social renters. Unfortunately, there is no way of looking at 
which health conditions these people have. 
 
In 2013 about a million English home, around 4%, had problems with damp, compared with 2.6 
million, 13% homes in 1996, Some 8% of private rented dwellings had some type of damp problem, 
compared with 5% of social rented dwellings and 3% of owner occupied dwellings, although private 
rented dwellings tended to be older and more prone to damp. The extent of damp housing in 
Islington is difficult to measure as estimates are largely dependent upon residents reporting 
incidence of damp and mould growth. 
 
6,771 damp inspections were carried out between 2007 and 2015. Whilst between 2010 and 2014 
the Council’s Residential Environmental Health service inspected 665 properties, where damp and 
mould were found, 133 of which were at such a level as to present a significant risk to the health of 
the occupiers  The 2008 Islington Private Sector Stock Condition Survey estimated that 869 owner 
occupied and privately rented homes had a Category 1 Damp and Mould hazard, indicating that the 
extent of dampness and mould growth was likely to be harmful to health. This is an estimate of 
those where the Council would be required to take action under the Housing Act 2004 and there are 
likely to be a further number of lower level category 2 hazards. 
 
The Committee heard evidence from the Andover and Girdlestone Estate TRA’s concerning their 
estates, which were two main hotspots for dampness problems in the borough. Housing Property 
services have completed the pilot works on parts of the Andover Estate and the works covered are 
cyclical improvements, Decent Homes work and Dampness works, which include a combination of 
improved insulation and ventilation of properties. 
 
Incorporating lessons learnt from this pilot, the main contract, which will roll out the work to the 
remainder of the Andover Estate, will start in Autumn 2015 and is scheduled to be completed by 
2017/18. The pilot for the Girdlestone Estate is due to commence in January 2016, with completed 
‘roll out’ of the contract, due to be completed by 2018/19. The works covered are Cyclical 
Improvement works, Decent Homes work and Dampness work, which includes roof renewal, private 
balcony asphalt removal and works to the internal duct system. 
 
Tackling cold and damp housing is important because of its association with a range of health 
conditions. Addressing damp and condensation can be challenging, as the source of the problem is 
not always easily identified, and can be caused by a mixture of factors, including structural defects, 
a lack of or faulty damp coursing or condensation dampness caused by both human and building 
factors. Islington Council has a number of schemes to reduce the impact of damp housing, which go 
beyond the national provision. 
 

Page 81



7 

 

In relation to social housing, Islington has invested significantly in improving the energy efficiency of 
its own housing stock. It has also fitted external wall insulation to 269 solid walled properties at the 
Holly Park Estate and 36 properties at Neptune House. The Holly Park external wall insulation work 
is being evaluated over three stages, measuring the impact on residents self -reported thermal 
comfort, energy use and bills, damp and mould, and health and wellbeing. The final results have 
shown that the External Wall Insulation (EWI) has had a positive effect on improving thermal 
comfort. The number of people, who said their property was warm enough with the heating on, rose 
from 69% to 95% following EWI. Survey respondents on the estate, also indicated that they had a 
considerable reduction in the amount of time that they used their heating, and the proportion of 
people who used their heating for more than six hours per day decreased from 31% to 10% after 
the EWI was fitted. 
 
The survey findings record a £10 monthly saving in the median bill amount over winter, from 
Autumn 2013 to Spring 2015. This is likely to be an underestimate, as those paying by Direct Debit 
would accrue these savings every month of the year, rather than just the winter months. 
 
For some residents there was also an improvement in problems with damp and mould, however this 
was not reported across the board. 
 
Understanding the full impact of the EWI on health and wellbeing has proved more difficult and 
while research indicates that there may have been some improvements in wider wellbeing, such as 
a reduction in the level of concern over heating bills, the impact on physical health conditions has 
been harder to track. The number of residents that self–report conditions, which can be associated 
with living in cold and damp homes, was too small to identify, whether or not there had been any 
changes in the severity of these long term conditions. 
 
The findings of the Holly Park evaluation should be viewed in the context of wider evidence 
considering the efficiency of external wall insulation. It was not possible within this evaluation to 
undertake a cost-benefit analysis and wider evidence in this area is limited. The relatively expensive 
installation costs of external wall insulation when compared to other energy efficacy interventions, 
means that it can be a long period of time before cost savings offset installation costs. 
Significant progress has been made on insulating lofts and cavity walls in Council stock, however 
Islington has a large number of older or challenging properties and further progress needs to be 
made on these, particularly where occupied by vulnerable residents. 
 
Since social housing makes up around 45% of the borough’s housing stock, social landlords can 
have a huge impact on fuel poverty. Joint funding applications, with other social housing providers, 
could systematically address particular areas, be attractive to energy companies and produce 
economies of scale. Requiring new developments to offset CO2 emissions associated with building, 
could enable a fund to be available to improve energy efficiency in Islington homes, including social 
housing. 
 
Insulating solid wall properties presents the biggest challenge, but would also potentially have the 
biggest impact on fuel poverty. Within the Council’s own stock there are 14,600 uninsulated solid 
wall homes. Energy Company Obligation funding is available for this work, but has not been 
available at 100%. 
 
In early 2015 Islington also secured funding from UK Power networks, in order to run an education 
and awareness campaign on the Harvist Estate. This estate has the largest concentration of electric 
storage heated properties in Islington. Working with residents to reduce running costs for a 
potentially costly heating method, is likely to support more efficient heating, and thus reduce the risk 
of fuel poverty. 
 
Islington is also working to deliver a number of Combined Heat and Power scheme networks across 
the borough. The first development opened in November 2012 in Bunhill ward, providing cheaper, 

Page 82



8 

 

greener heat to over 800 homes. Large Council estates present some of the best opportunities for 
such developments and will deliver heat and power more efficiently and at lower cost to residents. 
 
Islington Housing Services also developed a condensation protocol in 2014, with colleagues in 
Environment and Regeneration. This supports an agreed, consistent approach to tackling the 
problem of condensation and damp in Council homes. The protocol commits the Council to 
identifying the source of damp and taking action to address it, both through improvements and 
repairs to its properties and by educating residents about lifestyle changes they can make, to 
reduce condensation in their home. 
 
The Council invests £2m per year in addressing dampness in its properties and £10m in improving 
energy efficiency to help relieve these problems. 
 
As part of Islington’s Warm and Healthy Homes programme, residents receiving certain benefits can 
apply for an energy efficient replacement boiler.  The main private sector grant scheme, Safe and 
Warm, has been running since 2001, providing  fully funded energy efficiency and security 
measures to vulnerable owner occupiers and leaseholders. This grant is provided by Residential 
Environmental Health, who are active in trying to identify and action the least energy efficient homes 
in the private rented sector. They are also committed to tackling poor private rented housing, 
through the Housing Health and Safety rating system. 
 
For residents of all housing tenures, Islington has invested in Energy Doctor in the Home. This 
programme, operated by Groundwork since 2009, is aimed at vulnerable residents and provides a 
home visit, where advice is given on how to save energy in their home, how to use their heating 
system more efficiently. The Energy Doctor also fits smaller energy saving measures, such as 
draught proofing and reflective radiator panels. Over 4,900 households have been assisted by this 
programme. 
 
Islington’s affordable warmth services have provided local energy advice services to residents for 
around 30 years and they also provide a ‘drop in’ facility for residents. There is a freephone service 
and also an outreach service. The SHINE (seasonal health intervention network) referral 
programme processes referrals from a range of partners in front line service provision. In 2015 an 
escalated referral route was established, whereby residents with chronic respiratory conditions were 
prioritised for diagnostic survey, and this has helped develop relationships with partners in 
respiratory medicine. 
 
In the Council’s Asset Management Strategy 2013/2043 consultation, residents in Islington social 
housing indicated that preventing and resolving dampness in Council properties is one of their top 
priorities. The Council plans to allocate a total of £73m to carry out works to resolve damp problems 
and tackle problem condensation to ensure all homes are free of damp. 
 
In terms of what more the Council could do, the Committee considered evidence that the Islington 
Private Sector Stock conditions survey 2008 had indicated that fuel poverty was particularly high 
amongst private tenants and single pensioners. These groups require particular attention. 
 
Islington Council receives a ring-fenced Public Health grant from the Department of Health to fund 
the cost of its Public Health service. The total funding for 2015/16 is £25.4m, however an in-year cut 
is expected, whilst a future reduction in grant is also expected. 
 
Consideration was also given to the fact that where in the past, garages had been converted into 
flats, there have been problems with dampness. However, the Committee were informed that new 
garage developments had much more rigorous design specifications than in the past, given the 
problems experienced with the conversion of the Andover Estate garages, so that this should not 
present a problem in the future. 
 

Page 83



9 

 

The Committee considered evidence from TRA representatives on the Andover Estate and 
Girdlestone Walk TRA and in addition, Ken Kanu of Help on Your Doorstep, as to experiences of 
residents who suffered from dampness problems. 
 
The Committee noted that the Girdlestone Estate, which had been built in 1975/76 had 95% of 
properties, which had, or were suffering  from dampness. There were a number of causes of 
dampness on the estate, including central heating pipes, roofing, lack of damp proof coursing, leaks 
from balconies etc. 
 
There had been constant problems with the Council in resolving these problems and tenants often 
gave up with trying to get remedial works carried out, and even if they were carried out, it only 
appeared to be a superficial repair that was carried out and it was not dealing with the main 
problem. 
 
The problems of dampness on the estates has led to instances of residents suffering from 
depression, respiratory problems, allergies, coughs and colds and the issues affected all floors on 
the estate, not just the ground floors. 
 
The Committee noted that a programme of works is being drawn up on the Girdlestone Estate and a 
pilot scheme would shortly be started with a rolling programme of major works, commencing in 
2016/17 for the rest of the estate. However, there could be difficulties in gaining access to 
leaseholder properties, where there are central heating pipe problems. A similar pilot is at present 
taking place on the Andover Estate, to assess where the problems were with major works taking 
place in 2015/16. 
 
The Committee also noted that both of the TRA’s who gave evidence, complained about a lack of 
communication from the Council to tenants, who had reported dampness problems, and even when 
tenants had requested feedback on action to be taken, they were not kept informed of the action 
proposed, or what the problems were, and this often led to tenants giving up. It also exacerbated 
the problems and had led to depression for some tenants. In addition, tenants often gave up 
pursuing the complaint, which led to them continuing to live in damp conditions. 
 
The Committee also heard evidence from Help on Your Doorstep, which is a door knocking and 
outreach service that visits residents in the borough to assist with problems. 
 
Help on Your Doorstep stated that a number of residents had complained about dampness 
problems to their properties and that a number of these were elderly or vulnerable residents. In 
addition, there are families with young children that are affected, and recurring medical themes 
identified are respiratory problems, allergies, infections, skin complaints and mental illness. 
 
Many residents also complained about the smell of damp in their properties and that it lingered on 
their clothes. Help on Your Doorstep echoed the views of the TRA witnesses that a common 
complaint was that Council officers never responded to them on dampness issues. To date, Help on 
Your Doorstep had identified 261 cases associated with dampness in the last 5 years, and clients 
complained of the number of multiple visits they had from surveyors and also the fact that they did 
not inform them what was going on. Even if works were carried out, they were often superficial, and 
did not seem to address the underlying problem. 
 
The Committee were concerned that all the witnesses had complained about the poor 
communication of Housing officers with residents and that even when requested, copies of 
surveyor’s reports did not seem to be made available to residents. We feel that this is an area that 
needs to be addressed, and also there is a need to address the issue of where English is not the 
first language. 
 

Page 84



10 

 

The Committee noted that there were consultation meetings taking place with residents on the 
major works planned, in order to keep them informed of the proposals, and the Committee 
welcomed this. 
 
The TRA representative from the Andover Estate stated that the Andover Estate also suffered from 
dampness problems and that there were not only problems in the newer blocks, but also in the older 
blocks as well. The tenants on the Andover Estate also suffered from similar medical conditions to 
those on the Girdlestone Estate and the elderly and children, in particular, suffered from 
coughs/colds, allergies and respiratory problems. 
 
The Committee are of the view that whilst the new blocks on the Andover Estate would be 
benefitting from major works, because of the dampness problems on the older blocks, there needed 
to be a systematic look at these as well, in order to address causes of the problems there. This 
should include why dampness problems in the kitchen and bathrooms had become worse, following 
the decent homes work, and residents should be consulted and informed of the findings of these 
investigations. 
 
The Committee heard evidence concerning the pilot works, which are taking place on the Andover 
Estate, and were concentrated on some of the worst affected flats, which were within the ground 
floor units to the four storey blocks, which have individual garages. The pilot works were completed 
in December 2014. 
 
The pilot phase was carried out to attempt to resolve the known condensation and dampness 
problems and to highlight other areas, improve upon and subsequently resolve them. 
 
Proposed remedial works will include external communal cyclical repair works, picking up the 
decent homes bathrooms, WC’s, and kitchens from last time, and work with the new build team. In 
addition, external and internal surveys have been undertaken to the whole building envelope to 
address weaknesses/faults and thoroughly reviewed the design of the proposed 
condensation/dampness works to take into account all possible potential areas of cold bridging for 
the various types of properties. There will also be thermal insulation works, both internally and 
externally taking place, heating, ventilation and to the water storage systems. 
 
There are also electrical/carpentry works that will take place and resident profiling and consultation 
will take place in order to inform residents of works and to minimise disruption to residents, as far as 
possible. Education on how to avoid condensation should be provided to residents, as lifestyle will 
also be a major consideration and factor in the success of the scheme.    
 
The Committee considered evidence from residents at Alderwick Court, in relation to health 
problems of residents, and their children that lived in the block and the fact that many residents 
suffered from dampness problems. 
 
The Committee heard that residents, particularly children, suffered from chest problems, such as 
bronchitis and asthma, and that this often necessitated visits to Accident and Emergency and 
them missing time from school. 
 
The Committee heard evidence that there were problems of black mould spores in the block, cold 
bridging, lack of insulation, lack of ventilation and rising and other types of dampness. 
 
The Committee also considered evidence from Residential Environmental Health that they did 
have powers to enforce on Housing Associations and private landlords remedial works and that 
they were now working in a more multi-disciplinary way, with Health and Social Care, and with the 
Energy team, to prepare for the introduction of new energy efficiency regulations in 2018. 
 

Page 85



11 

 

The Committee were keen to consider whether there is evidence showing a health linkage 
between dampness and health conditions. The Committee considered guidance issued by the 
Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, which had been issued in relation to Housing and Health and 
Safety in 2006. 
 
This indicated that the most vulnerable group in health terms, of the adverse effects of damp and 
mould growth are persons aged 14 years old or younger and these estimates are based on the 
mortality figures for England and Wales of respiratory disease and GP consultation rates for 
coughs and wheezes. The elderly are also adversely affected. 
 
Research has shown that low levels of background ventilation, even without visible mould or 
dampness, can result in high humidity levels and in greatly increased house dust mite populations. 
These and mould spores are potent airborne allergens, and exposure to a high concentration of 
these over a prolonged period of time will cause sensitisation of certain individuals, and can cause 
allergic symptoms, such as rhinitis, conjunctivitis, eczema, cough and wheeze and asthma. 
 
Although less significant statistically in health terms, spores of many moulds and fungi, can be 
allergenic. Fungal infection is usually associated with those vulnerable to infection. 
 
The mental and social health effects of dampness and mould should also not be under-estimated. 
Damage to decoration from mould or damp staining and smells, associated with damp and mould, 
can cause depression and anxiety. 
 
The indications are that house dust mite and indoor mould growth have increased over the last 
century. This is probably due to reduced ventilation levels, increased humidity and warmer indoor 
temperatures in winter months, caused by changes in dwelling design and adaptations when 
houses are renovated. 
 
In terms of cold conditions in properties, the most vulnerable age group is the over 65 year olds 
and statistical evidence shows that there is a continuous relationship between indoor temperature 
and vulnerability related to cold related death. It was noted that the colder the dwelling, the greater 
the risk to health. 
 
Cold related illness is, in part, determined by the characteristics of the dwelling and in part by 
occupation factors. The energy efficiency of a building depends on the thermal insulation of its 
structure, on the fuel type, and the size and design of the means of heating and ventilation. Any 
disrepair or dampness to the dwelling, and any disrepair to the heating system, may affect their 
efficiency. The exposure and orientation of the dwelling are also relevant. 
 
Some forms of insulating material, will become less effective over time, and as water readily 
conducts heat, excess moisture content i.e. dampness will reduce the thermal insulation provided. 
The effectiveness of some forms of insulating material can be compromised by moisture. 
Dampness will affect the thermal insulation of bedding, increasing the risk. 
 
The Committee were keen to hear evidence of the work that is being carried out, in order to deal 
with dampness and condensation problems in Partners and other public/private sector properties. 
 
Partners housing stock is mainly Victorian and Georgian street properties and Partners had 
responsibility for 2900 properties and 4500 tenants. In addition, there are 1800 leaseholders. The 
properties were mainly solid brick walls and had sash windows and therefore there were inherent 
problems with carrying out cost effective insulation work. 
 
Partners recognised that that dampness is detrimental to health, and this issue has been 
addressed in a number of ways, and in particular by a refurbishment programme from 2002-2012. 
Advice is also given to tenants and vulnerable residents. The refurbishment programme included 

Page 86



12 

 

ventilation work, damp proof works in basements and some external wall works. Ongoing repairs 
are carried out by Rydon’s, Partners sub-contractor, who deal with 23,000 repair requests per 
year, and only 3% of these properties had damp related issues. Of the 778 initial complaints 
relating to dampness only 205 had resulted in an independent damp survey being carried out. 
There had been no major issues of dampness identified in the previous few months. 
 
The Committee were informed that ad hoc work is carried out in relation to condensation problems 
and Partners provided advice to residents by distributing leaflets on this, and also on energy 
saving measures. Assistance is also given to vulnerable residents and there is liaison with SHINE. 
 
Secondary glazing works had recently taken place to some properties and boilers had been 
replaced to be more energy efficient and there is a programme of loft insulation. There is a desire 
to carry out more insulation work to walls, and install secondary/double glazing, but this work is 
expensive to carry out. 
 
Partners stated that the main causes of dampness were rising damp, water ingress, plumbing, 
drainage, and roofing problems. There were condensation issues, but the important thing is for 
there to be specialist knowledge, in order to identify and rectify any problems. 
 
Partners have an obligation to tenants to resolve issues and to work with tenants, and whilst there 
had been roofing problems some years previously, these had now been largely resolved. 
 
Partners informed the Committee that they recognised the health implications of dampness on 
residents and they had an important role in reducing dampness in their properties. 
 
The Committee also received evidence from a private landlord who managed over 300 properties. 
 
The Committee were informed that dampness is a major issue in private sector properties, and 1 
in 3 houses suffer from some kind of dampness problem. There are different causes of dampness 
in properties and this could range from a damp proof course failure, condensation, 
construction/design issues or ventilation problems 
 
It is important to identify the reasons for a dampness problem at an early stage, in order that it 
does not affect health, and we noted that private landlords often felt that there is a lack of 
communication between the landlord and tenant, often until the situation has become serious, and 
that it was sensible to resolve such problems before that stage is reached. 
 
The Committee noted the view that it is felt that in private sector housing tenants on low incomes, 
who could not afford to put their heating on, often contributed to some dampness problems, such 
as condensation and mould or by not using extractor fans, and drying washing on radiators etc. 
Most tenants tended to report problems, only when health concerns become evident, and that it 
has now been proven that there is a link between dampness problems and health issues, in 
particular, for some young children and the elderly. 
 
It was important to ensure that tenanted properties had adequate heating, which is economic to 
operate, and that adequate advice is given to ensure that tenants knew how to operate such 
heating and also that advice is given on drying clothes, adequate ventilation etc. 
 
The Committee expressed the view that for many years, Council housing surveyors had tended to 
blame dampness problems on tenants lifestyle issues, however in many cases it has now been 
ascertained that these were due to underlying construction/design of housing. The Committee felt 
that in future, it is only when these factors have been ruled out, that lifestyle issues should be 
considered.  
 

Page 87



13 

 

It was noted that whilst external insulation is a good way of reducing dampness problems, this 
could be expensive to install on older properties.  
 
Hyde Housing Association also gave evidence to the Committee, in relation to dampness 
problems in their properties. Hyde outlined to the Committee the methods by which they dealt with 
such problems. The Committee were informed that in  the event of an emergency the matter is 
referred to the emergency services team and, if there is a social services referral or a care issue, 
the tenant is ‘sign posted’ to the appropriate agency/ies. Hyde also now had a full complement of 
surveying staff, which had not previously been the case. 
 
The Committee learnt that Hyde would make initially make attempts to resolve a serious 
dampness issue that has been reported, however if this is not possible then temporary rehousing 
will be considered. Hyde staff did not have medical expertise. Therefore, Hyde is not able to 
assess health problems caused by dampness, but would advise tenants that if they thought that 
there was a health problem, then they should contact their GP for advice. 
 
Hyde also issued advice to tenants on lifestyle issues and if this was identified, and there being no 
other underlying cause, monitoring would take place to ensure the advice is being followed, and if 
it had been effective. Hyde stated that they experienced most dampness problems in their more 
elderly Victorian and Edwardian properties. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
 
 
The Committee have considered, in detail, the measures that are being taken to reduce the effects 
that damp properties has on the health of residents. Whilst, the Council and its partners have put in 
place extensive work in recent years, and in particular the extensive works that are planned on the 
two worst Council estates affected by dampness over the next few years, (which will no doubt 
alleviate many of these problems), there are still areas where the Committee think improvements 
can be made and these are outlined in our recommendations. 
 
The design of many elderly properties means that it is often expensive and difficult to treat 
dampness effectively, which further exacerbates problems for residents. 
 
It is hoped that the Executive will adopt the recommendations of the Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



14 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MEMBERSHIP OF THE HEALTH AND CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 2015/16 and 2016/17 
 
MEMBERSHIP  2015/16 
 
Martin Klute – Chair 
Jilani Chowdhury – Vice Chair 
Nurullah Turan 
Raphael Andrews 
Una O’Halloran – Replaced Osh Gantly October 2015 
Rakhia Ismail- Replaced Mouna Hamitouche October 2015 
Gary Heather 
Tim Nicholls 
 
Co-opted Member: 
Bob Dowd – Islington Healthwatch 
 
Substitutes: 
Alice Donovan 
Alex Diner 
Jean Roger-Kaseki 

Page 89



15 

 

Jenny Kay 
Una O’Halloran until October 2015 
Alice Perry 
Dave Poyser 
Clare Jeapes 
Olav Ernsten/Philip Watson – Islington Healthwatch 
 
MEMBERSHIP 2016/17 
 
Councillors: 
 Martin Klute – Chair 
 Rakhia Ismail – Vice Chair 
 Nurullah Turan 
 Una O’Halloran 
 Gary Heather 
 Tim Nicholls 
 Michelline Safi Ngogo 
 Jilani Chowdhury 
 
Co-opted Member: 
Bob Dowd – Islington Healthwatch 
 
Substitutes: 
Alice Perry 
Dave Poyser 
Clare Jeapes 
Satnam Gill 
Angela Picknell 
Marian Spall 
Olav Ernsten/Philip Watson – Islington Healthwatch 
 
 
Acknowledgements:   The Committee would like to thank all the witnesses who gave evidence to 
the review. 
 
 
Officer Support:    
Peter Moore – Democratic Services 
Lead officer/s- Simon Kwong, Damian Dempsey - Housing and Adult Social Services and Julie 
Billett,  Baljinda Heer Matiana -Public Health 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



16 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX A – SCRUTINY INTITIATION DOCUMENT 
 

SCRUTINY REVIEW INTITATION DOCUMENT 

Review: The health impacts of damp housing conditions 
 

Scrutiny Committee: Health Scrutiny Committee 
 

Lead Officers: Julie Billett. Joint Director of Public Health and Simon Kwong, Director of 
Housing Property Services 
 

Overall aim: To understand the scale and nature of the negative health and wellbeing 
impacts of damp housing conditions in Islington, and the effectiveness of current 
arrangements and measures for tackling damp and its adverse impacts on health. 
 

Objectives of the review:- 

 To understand the relationship between damp housing conditions and health and 
wellbeing in general, and specifically the impact of damp housing on Islington 
residents’ health and wellbeing. 

 To understand the extent of damp housing across all tenure types in Islington, and 

Page 91



17 

 

the current arrangements and mechanisms that exist for preventing, identifying, 
addressing and mitigating its impacts?  

 To assess the effectiveness of current approaches to tackling both the structural and 
behavioural causes of damp, with a particular focus on health-related outcomes, and 
to make recommendations for increasing the impact of local measures, as 
appropriate. 

 To particularly assess the impact of dampness on children and how it affects 
absence from school. 

 

Duration: Approx. 6 months 

How the review will be conducted 
 
Scope:  The review will look at the issue of damp and its impact on health across all tenure 
types in Islington, and at the measures taken by the council, RSLs, Housing Associations 
and private landlords to address damp housing and its health-related impacts. 
 
Types of evidence to be assessed: 
 

 National and local data on 
a. Health and wellbeing impacts of damp housing (particularly on older people 

and children), including understanding evidence of causation and association. 
b. Scale and location of damp properties in Islington, including information on 

the type/cause, severity etc, as well as the limitations of what is known 
regarding damp housing conditions. 

c. Overview of local programmes and interventions to prevent, identify, diagnose 
and address damp, and information on their impact and effectiveness.  

d. Islington’s housing transfer policy, its operation in practice and how it takes 
into account the interaction between residents’ health and housing conditions. 

 

 Witness evidence from a range of relevant individuals and organisations 

 
a. LBI 

i. Housing 
ii. Public Health 
iii. Residential Environemtnal Health 

b. External partners 
i. Partners for Improvement 
ii. Registered providers eg Family Mosaic, Circle, etc 
iii. Islington Registered Landlords Forum 
iv. Islington CCG - impact on health/addressing damp housing in care 

pathways; impact on primary care  
v. Help on Your Doorstep 

 
c. Residents 

i. Residents – identified via members’ casework? 
ii. Tenants/residents associations  
iii. Islington HealthWatch 

 

 Site visits to see:- 
a. housing / housing estates with known damp conditions 
b. housing where remedial action is or has been taken to address damp 
c. Any out of borough schemes/programmes offering learning for Islington 

 

Page 92



18 

 

Additional information: 
May want to also consider hearing from national organisations regarding innovative practice 
such as Shelter, National Housing Federation, etc. 
 

 
 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



       
 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17 

 
  
 
 
16 MAY 2016 

 
1. Membership, Terms of Reference and Dates of Meetings 

 
2. Work Programme 2016/17 and prioritisation of scrutiny topics  

 
3. 111/Out of Hours service specification –update from Chair 

 
4. Islington CCG Annual report 

 
5. Margaret Pyle update – Results of consultation/Progress on transformation 

 
6. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 

 
 

09 JUNE  2016 
 

1. Drug and alcohol misuse – Annual Update 
 

2. Camden and Islington Mental Health Trust Quality Account 
 

3. Scrutiny Review – Health Implications of Damp Properties – witness evidence 
 

4. New Scrutiny topic  
 

5. Work Programme 2016/17 
 

6. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 
 
 

 
19 JULY 2016 
 

1. NHS Trust – Whittington Hospital – Performance update 
 

2. Scrutiny Review – Health Implications of Damp Properties – Draft recommendations/Hyde 
Housing Association 

 
3. Work Programme 2016/17 

 
4. Whittington Hospital – Governance arrangements 

 
5. Healthwatch Annual Report 

 
6. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 

 
 

 
 

Page 95

Agenda Item 14



 
 
22 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 

1. London Ambulance Service – Performance update 
 

2. Scrutiny Review – Effectiveness of IAP – Presentation and SID 
 

3. Annual Adults Safeguarding report 
 

4. Work Programme 2016/17 
 

5. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 
 

6. Scrutiny Review – Health implications of Damp Properties – Final report 
 

 
 
17 NOVEMBER 2016 
 

1. Scrutiny Review – New Topic – witness evidence 
 

2. Health and Well Being Board – update 
 

3. Work Programme 2016/17  
 

4. Performance statistics 
 

5. Healthwatch work programme 
 

6. Presentation Executive Member Health and Social Care 
 
12 JANUARY 2017 
 

1. NHS Trust – UCLH – Performance update 
 

2. Scrutiny Review – New topic – Witness evidence 
 

3. Work Programme 2015/16 
 

4. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 
 

5. Scrutiny Review – 12 month progress report – Patient Feedback 
 

6. Performance statistics 
  
  
06 MARCH 2017 

 
 

 
1. Scrutiny Review – New topic– witness evidence 

 
2. NHS Trust – Moorfields – Performance update 

 
3. Work Programme 2015/16 

 

Page 96



4. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 
 

5. Whittington Estates Strategy 
  

 
 
 
22 MAY 2017 
 

1. Scrutiny Review – New topic– witness evidence 
 

2. Work Programme 2016/17 
 

3. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 
 

4. Scrutiny Review – Topics 2017/18 
 

5. Membership, Terms of Reference etc. 
 

6. Performance statistics 
 

 
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Confirmation of minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	10 London Ambulance Service - Performance Update
	11 Annual Adults Safeguarding report
	ISAB 2015-16 Annual Report final
	SAB Annual Report Summary 2015-16 final

	12 crutiny Review - Effectiveness of IAP - Presentation and SID
	13 Scrutiny Review - Health Implications of Damp Properties - Final report
	14 Work Programme 2016/17

